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 Revenue EBITDA EBIT Net Earnings per share
    Income undiluted diluted
  M¤ M€ M€ M€ M€ M€
GJ 2008 168.9 7.8 6.0 9.3 0.86 0.85
GJ 2007 158.3 7.1 5.0 5.2 0.48 0.47
GJ 2006 136.7 4.3 2.9 2.8 0.25 0.24

 Revenue Gross Profit Gross Personell Operating EBITDA EBIT EBIT
   Margin Expenses Expenses
  M€ M€  % M€ M€ M€ M€ %
Q4 / 2008 48.0 16.2 33.6 10.3 2.4 3.5 3.1 6.3
Q3 / 2008 40.4 14.3 35.3 9.0 3.4 1.8 1.4 3.4
Q2 / 2008 41.1 13.6 33.1 9.1 3.1 1.4 0.9 2.3
Q1 / 2008 39.4 12.6 32.1 8.7 2.8 1.1 0.6 1.6
Q4 / 2007 47.3 15.4 32.6 9.5 2.6 3.2 2.9 6.1

INTEGRALIS GROUP AT A GLANCE
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At the moment, you are probably unlikely to read a current an-
nual report released by a listed company which does not inclu-
de the word “financial crisis”. Hardly a business entity – from 
major multinationals right down to one-man businesses – has 
been left unscathed by this calamitous financial “tsunami”. 
Many companies are seeking shelter under government pro-
tection schemes in the hope of surviving the crisis. As justified 
as this may be in individual cases, there is no denying the fact 
that many are seeking to shirk their own responsibility for the 
errors and mistakes made in the past. 

Yet, it is precisely in an economic crisis such as this one that 
company managements must rise to the occasion rather than 
relying on assistance from the government. When the weather 
is favourable, there is no shortage of experts. But, once the 
going gets tough, only long-term viable and resilient business 
models can survive in the market place. 

Integralis has passed this test with flying colours and is one of 
the few companies which despite the adverse conditions were 
able to grow at all earnings levels. With consolidated reve-
nues of 168.9 million € and operating profit of 6.0 million €, 
we have again reached a new record, achieving the best per-
formance in our Company’s history. We were also able to ac-
quit ourselves well even in the difficult fourth quarter, during 
which many companies sustained losses, and achieved operat-
ing earnings of a magnitude equalling the combined total for 
the first three quarters. 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS AND 
BUSINESS ASSOCIATES,
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specifically improving the quality of our business processes on 
a steady and sustained basis so that all Group members can 
benefit from the applicable best practices. 
We hope that the financial markets acknowledge our operat-
ing success again soon and that Integralis stock returns to its 
former strength.
On behalf of fellow Management Board member Roger Friede-
rich, I wish to thank our loyal shareholders, our business part-
ners and our employees all around the world.

Georg Magg

CEO

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  LETTER TO THE SHAREHOLDERS

However, we also completed important strategic groundwork 
in 2008, placing a further Security Operation Centre (SOC) in 
operation in Singapore at the end of the year. We are now pre-
sent in all relevant time zones and it is with great pride that we 
are able to state that the sun never sets on Integralis IT secu-
rity services. In this way, we are able to meet the needs of our 
international customers in particular. 

We have also prepared further regional expansion with an op-
tion for the acquisition of the assets of China Managed Ser-
vices, Inc., which is currently being established.

At the technological level, Integralis was able to add new ser-
vices with the implementation of a new technology platform.
With its Managed Security Services (MSS), Integralis achieved 
the long-awaited breakthrough in IT security services. This seg-
ment, which management has been pushing, benefited in the 
second half of the year in particular. In this way, Integralis is 
one of the winners of the crisis as many companies are now 
outsourcing their IT services to cut costs. In the long term, the 
strategic dimension of these recurring revenues is of enormous 
importance.

That said, 2009 will doubtless pose challenges for us as well. 
However, we will be tackling them proactively to emerge 
further strengthened from the current economic crisis.
With the formation of virtual management teams, we will be 

Georg Magg / Roger Friederich
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During the fiscal year, the Supervisory Board performed the 
duties imposed on it by law and by the Company’s articles 
of incorporation, monitoring and advising the Company’s Ma-
nagement Board on an ongoing basis. The Management Board 
briefed the Supervisory Board in detail on the Company’s con-
dition, compliance with the principles of corporate gover-
nance, the risk situation and risk management as well as plan-
ned business strategies including corporate forecasts in written 
and oral reports submitted at a total of seven meetings as well 
as numerous telephone conferences. No committees were for-
med.

The Management Board was scaled down in the second half of 
2008 from three to two members as COO Graham Jones step-
ped down effective from 30 June 2008 to assume responsibili-
ty as country manager for the UK.

All material investment decisions as well as decisions of fun-
damental importance were reviewed and approved by the 
Supervisory Board.

The Management Board and the Supervisory Board worked 
closely and consulted on the Company’s strategic orientation 
in regular intervals. For this purpose, the Management Board 
kept us regularly informed in both written and oral reports of 
all relevant aspects of the Group’s plans and strategic deve-
lopment, the course of business and its status with minimum 
delay and on a comprehensive basis. In addition to the risk si-
tuation and risk management, the Supervisory Board also de-

REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY 
BOARD 2008
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of the audit at the meeting of the Supervisory Board on March 
31, 2009. The Supervisory Board consented to the results of 
the audit. The examination of the management reports re-
vealed that they were consistent with the reports which the 
Management Board had submitted to the Supervisory Board in 
the course of the year.

The Supervisory Board for its part examined the annual finan-
cial statements for the year ending December 31, 2008, the 
management report, the consolidated annual financial state-
ments for 2008 and the Group management report. No ob-
jections arose. Accordingly, the Supervisory Board duly adop-
ted the consolidated annual fi-nancial statements for 2008 and 
supports the Management Board’s proposal for the allocation 
of the Company’s profit.

The Supervisory Board wishes to thank all employees of Inte-
gralis AG as well as the members of the Management Board for 
the work which they have performed.

Magnus Wahlbäck

Chairman of the Supervisory Board

voted its attention to Integralis’ compliance programme. In ad-
dition, the Management Board compensation system including 
the main contract elements was regularly reviewed. The half-
year and quarterly financial reports were also discussed with 
the Management Board at the meetings prior to publication. 
Details of any differences between actual and target business 
performance were submitted to the Supervisory Board and ex-
amined on the basis of the documents provided.

The annual financial statements for 2008, the consolidated 
annual financial statements and the management report and 
Group management report were audited by auditing com-
pany AWT Horwath GmbH, Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, 
Munich, which issued an unqualified auditor’s report. 

In connection with their activities, the auditors were also re-
quired to assess whether the Management Board had com-
plied with the statutory requirements and, in particular, had 
established a monitoring and controlling system for the early 
detection of any events liable to impair the status of the Com-
pany or the Group as a going concern.

At its meeting of March 31, 2009, the Supervisory Board dis-
cussed at length the auditor’s report of the annual financial 
statements for the year ending December 31, 2008, the ma-
nagement report, the consolidated annual financial statements 
for 2008 and the Group management report together with au-
diting company AWT Horwath GmbH and the Management 
Board. The auditing company reported on the material results 

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  REPORT OF THE SUPERVISORY BOARD 
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INTEGRALIS STOCK – 
DRAGGED DOWN BY THE FINANCIAL CRISIS

Main figures 2008 2007
End-of-year price 3.21 €  5.75 € 
High for the year  6.00 €  6.22 €
Low for the year  2.44 €  3.20 €
Performance of Integralis stock  -44.2 %  55.8 %
Performance of Tec All Shares -49.7 % 22.8 % 
Performance of Tec Dax -48.3 % 30.0 % 
Performance of Dax -40.4 % 22.0 %
Number of shares at 
the end of the year 11,585,137 11,585,137 
Market capitalization at
the end of the year 37.2 Mio. € 66.6 Mio. €
Earnings per share  0.86 €  0.48 €

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  INTEGRALIS STOCK

In 2008, the bears clearly dominated the global stock mar-
kets, with all major bourses sustaining massive losses. The 
first wave of selling was triggered at the beginning of the 
year when it became known that the French securities trader 
Jérôme Kerviel had racked up losses of 5 billion € for his em-
ployer Bank Societé Générale from speculation on DAX futures 
far in excess of his limit. 
Yet, stock markets clearly took their cues from the financial cri-
sis in 2008. Many banks reported horrendous losses in the billi-
ons from structured investments such as collateralised debt ob-
ligations and asset backed securities and had to be bailed out 
by the government. These “toxic assets” had previously been 
sold to other banks and investment funds all around the world 
to finance subprime mortgages. After the real estate bubble 
burst, the market for these structured securities collapsed.
The nationalisation of UK mortgage bank Northern Rock in mid 
February 2008 marked a preliminary climax as the bank crisis 
unfolded, with customers withdrawing deposits worth several 
billion of euros in the space of a few days. The subprime crisis 
doubtless came to a head with the collapse of US investment 
bank Lehman Brothers, which the US Federal Reserve Bank had 
decided not to rescue in contrast to other banks of systemic im-
portance. This triggered a domino effect in the capital markets 
as many global banks were exposed to Lehman Brothers, re-
sulting in an extreme loss of confidence in the financial mar-
kets and the collapse of interbank trading. Although it was ini-
tially largely confined to the banks, the crisis spread quickly to 
the real economy, causing a downward spiral in many key in-
dustries. 
With the crisis afflicting all main trading regions more or less 
simultaneously for the first time since the Second World War, 
the parallels with the Great Depression of the 1930s became 
unmistakable. Only by flooding the markets with liquidity were 
the central banks able to prevent an even worse crisis, while 
governments issued guarantees to protect savers’ deposits.
Despite Integralis’ operating success, its stock failed to escape 
the massive slide in global capital markets, retreating by more 
than 44 percent in the course of the year. However, the TecDax 
benchmark index with a loss of over 48 percent and the broa-
der Tec All Shares Index technology index, which shed almost 
half of its value, fared even worse. After gaining in the first half 
of the year against the general trend and rising to EUR 6.00 

at the end of June, Integralis stock experienced a massive sel-
loff in the fourth quarter following the breach in the uptrend 
during the escalation in autumn 2008.
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INTEGRALIS HIGHLIGHTS IN 2008 – 
COMPANY NEWS AND ACTIVITIES

2 January: 
Integralis continues its stock buy-back programme in 2008, 
acquiring up to 450,000 of its own shares by 30 June 2008

27 February: 
Integralis releases its preliminary figures – earnings up double, 
resulting in record profit

28 March:
Integralis publishes its annual report for 2007: best figures in 
the Company’s history

7 May: 
Successful start to 2008 reported – operating profit up by mo-
re than 58 % in the first quarter of 2008

8 May:
Integralis’ strategy confirmed by a large majority of the share-
holders at the annual general meeting – new member appoin-
ted to the Supervisory Board

20 May: Coverage of the stock commenced by equinet with 
a buy recommendation and a target of 7.50 €

30 May: 
Gartner rates Managed Security Services a “strong positive”, 
with the analysts particularly praising the extremely competi-
tive value for money and broad market coverage

10 June: 
Integralis implements a fully outsourced managed security so-
lution for Heidelberger Druckmaschinen AG

10 June: 
Press conference held at Integralis Security World

18 June: 
Integralis embarks on an investor road show in Frankfurt

24 June: 
Integralis points out serious security shortfalls at government 
authorities and warns of the perils of careless handling of sen-
sitive identity data.

3 July: 
Major contract awarded for Management Security Services – 
largest individual MSS contract marking a breakthrough in this 
growth segment

21 July: 
Integralis extends its portfolio with new technology platform 
and signs an option agreement for an acquisition in China

14 August: 
Integralis reports seamless revenue and earnings growth in the 
first half of 2008

20 August: 
Integralis embarks on an investor road show in London

26 August: 
Integralis continues its stock buy-back programme, acquiring 
up to 250,000 of its own shares by 31 December 2008

15 September: 
Integralis embarks on an investor road show in Zurich

10 November:
Integralis and Global Crossing pool their security and IP ex-
pertise, providing benefits for public-sector customers and pri-
vate-sector business thanks to a shared secured VPN solution

10 November: 
Integralis boosts its revenues and earnings steadily – recurring 
revenues pick up substantially – record order books and total 
contract volumes

19 November: 
Major contract awarded by the Qatar Ministry of the Interior for 
an intelligent travel management system 
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from visitors to our stand. Integralis should make this a perma-
nent fixture. I’m looking forward to the next one.” 
 
Marc Hudavert, VP & GM of ActivIdentity EMEA:
 “Integralis Security World was a complete success! The venue, 
the format and the presentations were outstanding. At Integra-
lis Security World we reached both existing and new customers 
and were able to conduct extremely interesting talks with our 
target groups. The organisation and assistance provided by the 
Integralis team were perfect – everything went off without a 
hitch. To sum up, a first-class conference, for which we would 
like to thank the Integralis team most sincerely. We’ll definite-
ly be back next year.”  

Sepp Lausch Area Director Enterprise GAS, 
Juniper Networks GmbH:
“Following the great success at Integralis Security World this 
year, our team are looking forward to taking part in your inno-
vative conference again in 2009 to reach customers as expert 
partners. I am certain that you will be able to achieve far grea-
ter attendance numbers as news of the quality of Integralis Se-
curity World has spread quickly.”

Integralis Security World 2008 – 
placing CeBIT in the shadow

On 10 June 2008, Integralis held Integralis Security World, the 
premiere of the Company’s new, innovative and well-regar-
ded vendor and partner format at Stuttgart’s Mövenpick Air-
port Hotel.  
With roughly 30 of the top international vendors present, IT 
security “royalty” displayed their wares to a selected trade au-
dience.
The interest in the total of 40 carefully selected addresses held 
by producers, partner companies and Integralis consultants ex-
ceeded expectations, resulting in jam-packed lecture halls in 
some cases. 
The response by participants and also in the media was over-
whelming. 

Martin Ninnemann of Check Point Software Technologies:
“In my view, the entire conference was a complete success and 
made a very strong impact. The organisation, the location, the 
addresses, networking, catering, the accompanying programme 
– it was all perfect. This is also the feedback which we received 

WHEN YOU THINK INFORMATION SECURITY –
THINK INTEGRALIS



13

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  INSIDE INTEGRALIS

Ingo Wachter, Sales Director Central & Eastern Europe, 
PGP Deutschland AG:
“I would like to take this opportunity once more of thanking 
you for the great organisation and the very good event. I ho-
pe that you will be organising another conference like this next 
year. If so, we’ll definitely be in attendance.”

Ralf Kliemann, Sales Manager for New Products, Citrix Sys-
tems GmbH:
“Congratulations from us on a first-class conference and the 
opportunity of being able to take part. It gave us the chance to 
conduct interesting talks and to hold constructive discussions 
with our customers to arrange further partnership activities.” 
“Integralis landed a major success with its first “Integralis Se-
curity World” producer and partner forum at Mövenpick Hotel 
in Stuttgart. The roughly 400 guests felt visibly comfortable, 
using the event for discussions and networking. The unani-
mous view was that the Integralis forum has established itself 
as a small but all the more efficient version of Cebit for the IT 
security industry and is crying out for a continuation,” wrote 
the renowned trade journal Computer Reseller News.

And, indeed, this successful format is to be repeated in 2009: 
Integralis Security World 2009 will be opening its doors at the 
same venue – but this time for two days on 23 and 24 June. 

Integralis’ road shows in Germany, Austria and 
Switzerland

Commenced in the previous year, Integralis’ road shows cover-
ed 11 cities in Germany, Switzerland and Austria in 2008. This 
time, relevant IT securities matters, namely data loss preven-
tion and secure application delivery, were on the agenda. Du-
ring the full-day events, Integralis specialists together with ex-
ternal experts demonstrated the best processes and described 
current strategies and solutions. The road shows were accom-
panied by key strategic vendors as partners. More than 500 
participants from over 400 companies visited the road shows, 
with the new customer rate exceeding 25 percent. 

Integralis will be continuing this popular series this year, focu-
sing on end-point security, amongst other things.
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Integralis at Infosecurity Europe 2008 in the UK

Using the theme “fly your business securely with Integralis”, 
Integralis UK presented its complete range of  services at the 
largest European show for IT security. To project the theme, In-
tegralis used several flight schedule boards. 

• Professional Services were represented as the 
 pre-flight checks.
• Technology Solutions were symbolised as the take-off.
• Managed Services were presented as absolute safe flying.

In keeping with this theme, the Integralis staff were dressed as 
pilots and stewardesses.
Visitors to the show were able to take part in a raffle for a flight 
in an aircraft simulator. At the same time, the Company pre-
sented its seminar series on the Integralis Information Security 
Management System (ISMS).
Infosecurity Europe 2009 is taking place on April 28 – 30, 
again with the participation of Integralis UK.

Integralis Managing Information Assets 
Seminar Series in the UK 

In addition to the road shows stretching across Germany, Aus-
tria and Switzerland, the Management Information Assets Se-
minar series was held in the UK. Ahead of the series, Integralis 
had conducted a representative survey of 250 companies con-
cerning the protection of enterprise assets, publishing the re-
sults in a release at the end of October.
Key strategic vendors also attended the seminars in Manches-
ter, Birmingham, London and Bristol. More than 250 private 
and public-sector bodies registered in late autumn for the Ma-
naging Information Asset Seminar Series. 
Several webinars have been planned for the new year in con-
junction with vendors.
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Licence to Secure in Sweden

The “Licence to Secure” forum was the top event marking the 
repositioning of Integralis Sweden.
The “Licence to Secure” motto had deliberately been selected 
by new country manager Auguste Goldman on account of its 
associations with a famous James Bond film. Integralis staff 
were all dressed in evening wear or cocktail dresses with ac-
cessories in the Integralis colours. More than 75 decision ma-
kers and 10 vendors attended this forum, which was hosted 
by a journalist from the Swedish IT publishing company IDG, 
which also reported in depth on the event. The success far ex-
ceeded expectations. The participants readily comprehended 
the message that Integralis had developed into a skilled, re-

liable and confidence-inspiring IT security solution provider.  
“Licence to Secure” has proved to be an excellent platform in 
repositioning Integralis Sweden and is helping to stoke interest 
on the part of both new and existing customers in being part 
of the “new” Integralis.



16

THE INTEGRALIS BUSINESS MODEL
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In our consulting activities, we offer extensive expertise from 
strategic IT security advice through to the auditing of corpo-
rate networks.
In the technology segment we integrate the hardware and 
software of leading global vendors to produce integrated se-
cure solutions.
Our services entail our own support and managed security ser-
vices. With these highly scalable services, we are able to assist 
our customers around the clock. Our globally networked Secu-
rity Operation Centres monitor and manage our customers’ IT 
security environments.

Bespoke solutions for IT security in all 
process phases

Integralis offers bespoke solutions to optimise IT security in all 
phases of the IT security process. Roughly 70 percent of the 
DAX 100 and FTSE companies rely on the Company’s specific 
IT security skills and its twenty years of experience which is de-
rived from systematic specialisation in its core business. 

Integralis’ core competence in operational 
implementation – extended expertise for 
IT security

Application security is growing in importance. Today, 75% of 
all attacks are targeted at weaknesses in applications (sour-
ce: Gartner). 
The purpose of these attacks is to obtain sensitive informati-
on such as credit card numbers, customer or employee data as 
well as personal IDs and transaction histories. 
Web servers are the most frequent and fruitful targets of at-
tacks. It is precisely because enterprises are porting their main 
applications such as Siebel, SAP, BEA or Oracle to the web that 
security structures must be revised
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IT applications are increasingly forming the life line of enter-
prises.
Integralis has therefore extended its skills by amassing specific 
knowledge of all aspects of application security.
Internal applications such as office solutions, CRM systems 
and VOIP are expected to meet growing performance require-
ments. In B2B and B2C business, the web and e-business por-
tals are also playing an increasingly important role.
The challenge is to render applications swift, stable and secure 
all at the same time.

Integralis service portfolio

Managed Security Services (MSS) are the most comprehensive 
form of support for customers’ IT security environments. Even 
large companies are not always able to cope with the enor-
mous requirements of network security using their own resour-
ces and are thus increasingly relying on external specialists to 
manage their mission-critical processes. Cost aspects are play-
ing an increasingly important role in this respect. 
Managed Security Services can handle even the most com-
plex security tasks successfully, while simultaneously helping 
to lower operating costs and freeing up the customer’s capital. 

As a managed security service provider, Integralis is always at 
the forefront of the market and keeps pace with the latest tech-
nological developments. 

Unique architecture for Managed Security 
Services

Integralis has established its own global fail-safe architecture 
and, with Integralis Security Information System (ISIS), com-
pleted anticipatory development work on its own Security In-
formation and Event Management (SIEM) Security Service Ap-
pliance (SSA). The SSA is installed in the customer’s network, 
where it offers the unique possibility of monitoring linked sys-
tems and additionally analysing log files on a real-time basis. 
Day for day, 600 million log entries are analysed – more than 
twice the volume as in the previous year without the need for 
this data to be transferred across the network, thus clogging 
up the customers’ data lines. The preliminary evaluation of the 
security events is performed directly in the SSA, which con-
denses and correlates the data for transfer via a secure fail-sa-
fe link with the Integralis SOCs for further analysis. At the same 
time, the SSA operates as a secure remote access point for the 
systems managed on the customer’s premises. If the Internet 
link or fire wall fails, a dial-up link is automatically established. 
This development work makes a crucial contribution to ensu-
ring that Integralis is able to offer this unique Managed Securi-
ty Service around the world.  
In the Integralis MSS world the sun never sets. Indeed, Inte-
gralis’ services “follow the sun”. The Security Operation Centres 
(SOC) around the world are all linked to each other. Roughly 70 
highly trained specialists offer support in three languages (Ger-
man, English, French) at facilities in Germany, the United King-
dom, the United States and now also Singapore. In addition, a 
further two virtual SOCs operate in Sweden and France. Integra-
lis services are being utilised by customers in over 50 countries.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  THE INTEGRALIS BUSINESS MODEL



MANAGEMENT REPORT

In 2008, Integralis continued where it had left off in 

the previous year, in which it had achieved its 

best-ever performance, further increasing its earnings 

despite the adverse economic conditions.
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INTEGRALIS AG GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT 
FOR 2008

1. Business performance, underlying 
conditions and competition

In 2008, the European economy grew by only 1.1 percent, 
down from 2.7 percent in the previous year. In the wake of the 
financial crisis and the emergence of strong recessionary ten-
dencies, the rate by which the German economy grew almost 
halved. According to German Federal Bureau of Statistics esti-
mates, gross domestic product (GDP) grew by only 1.3 percent, 
compared with 2.5 percent in 2007. There was a sharp slow-
down in the fourth quarter in particular. With exports shrinking 
as a result of the global recession, the greatest impetus for the 
economy came from domestic consumption, particularly gross 
plant and construction spending. At 1.4 percent, the economic 
output of the 30 OECD countries was on a par with the United 
States in 2008.
The industry association BITKOM estimates that the informa-
tion and telecommunications industry grew by 1.2 percent in 
2008 to 145 billion €, while spending on information technolo-
gy climbed by 3.7 percent to 66 billion €. The Experton Group 
expects the revenues generated by IT security services to equal 
2.43 billion € in Germany alone in 2009, with an annual growth 
rate of 9 percent projected for the period through to 2012. 
The year under review was characterised by a record volume of 
lost data. At T-Mobile alone, data on 17 million customers was 
compromised. Experts are convinced that data on millions of 
customers is circulating illegally. The securities breaches which 
have become known are merely the tip of the iceberg.
At the same time, global spam volumes are continuing to grow, 
accounting for some 90 percent of the total daily volume of 
200 billion e-mail messages. Whereas the volume of malwa-
re, which is distributed in the form of e-mail attachments, is 
declining, phishing attacks and criminal activity via bot net-
works, social engineering and reputation hijacking are con-
tinuing to grow. Cyber criminals are determined in their efforts 
to find new ways of infiltrating home computers, corporate net-
works and the Internet.
In addition to the perennial problems in connection to e-mail 
and web security, the IT security business was also characteri-
sed by other issues such as network access restrictions, the con-
trol of outgoing data flows, identity management, measurabili-
ty and reporting tools. Many companies sought to outsource IT 

security in an effort to harness swift savings, something which 
resulted in growing demand for managed security services. 
In 2008, Integralis continued where it had left off in the pre-
vious year, in which it had achieved its best-ever performance, 
further increasing its earnings despite the adverse economic 
conditions. The business model is so far proving to be relative-
ly resilient to cyclical effects. 
The market in which Integralis operates is heterogeneous and 
comprises of three main groups:

• International telecommunications groups and IT outsourcers 
 operating at an international level
• Local and international IT network integrators also involved
 in security
• Local IT security specialists

Integralis is successfully asserting itself in these environment 
and has also been able to gain market share from substantial-
ly larger competitors in some segments. Integralis’ greatest as-
sets are its IT security specialists, which form the largest team 
of its type in Europe and the United States. With its many years 
of experience and vendor-independence, the Company is ab-
le to implement individual security solutions. For this reason, 
many large corporates and roughly 70 percent of the DAX 100 
and FTSE companies rely on Integralis’ services for protecting 
mission-critical processes. 
Integralis offers suitable integrated solutions along the entire 
IT security value chain. The broad range of services entails IT se-
curity consulting, IT audits, preparations for certification, design 
and on-site implementation as well as global 24 / 7 support and 
professional managed security services (MSS).
IT security experts see numerous key trends emerging in 2009. 
Cisco subsidiary Ironport has identified a growing risk within 
enterprises. In the wake of the global recession, careless or ag-
gravated employees may pose a risk to a company’s security. 
Data loss as a result of negligence, unauthorised intervention 
or espionage is posing a growing challenge in the monitoring 
of outgoing data flows. At the same time, mounting mobility, 
teleworking, web-based tools and applications, mobile devices 
and virtualisation are necessitating heightened security require-
ments in identity and access management as well as the admi-
nistration of sensitive accounts.
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The figures at a glance:*
M€  2007 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 2008
  2008 2008 2008 2008 
Revenues 158.3 39.4 41.1 40.4 48.0 168.9
Gross profit 54.1 12.6 13.6 14.3 16.2 56.7
Gross margin (%) 34.2 32.1 33.1 35.3 33.6 33.5
Personnel expenses 34.6 8.7 9.1 9.0 10.3 37.1
Personnel expenses (%) 21.9 22.2 22.0 22.3 21.4 22.0
Other operating expenses 12.4 2.8 3.1 3.4 2.4 11.7
Other operating expenses (%) 7.8 7.2 7.6 8.5 4.8 6.9
EBITDA 7.1 1.1 1.4 1.8 3.5 7.8
EBITDA margin (%) 4.5 2.7 3.4 4.5 7.4 4.6
EBIT 5.0 0.6 0.9 1.4 3.1 6.0
EBIT margin (%) 3.1 1.6 2.3 3.4 6.3 3.5
Net profit after tax 5.2 0.8 0.8 1.2 6.5 9.3
Net profit after tax (%) 3.3 1.9 1.9 3.0 13.6 5.5
Earnings per share 
IFRS (basic) 0.48 € 0.07 €  0.07 €  0.11 €  0.61 €  0.86 €
* All percentages in these financial statements have been calculated on the basis of rounded EUR thousands

2. Results of operations
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Revenues in M€ 2008 2007 Change 
    %
United Kingdom 68.1 66.1 3.0
Germany / 
Austria / Switzerland 43.4 38.2 13.7
United States 28.0 24.3 15.3
France 12.0 13.5 -11.1
Sweden 11.1 11.6 -3.8
United Arab Emirates 6.2 4.6 35.1
Total 168.9 158.3 6.7

EBIT in M€ 2008 2007 Change %
United Kingdom 2.0 2.7 -26.0
Germany / 
Austria / Switzerland 2.9 1.8 62.9
United States 0.1 1.2 -90.3
France -0.5 0.0 n.a.
Sweden -0.3 0.6 n.a.
United Arab Emirates  0.9 0.2 252.9
Not allocated 0.9 -1.5 n.a.
Total 6.0 5.0 20.5

2.1. Revenues by region

Despite the global economic crisis, Integralis grew solidly, with 
consolidated revenues rising by 6.7 percent to 168.9 million € 
in 2008 (previous year 158.3 million €). As in the previous year, 
the UK accounted for the greatest share of revenues. However, 
the slow rate of growth relative of the Group as a whole must 
also be seen in the light of the extreme weakness exhibited by 
pound sterling, which reached a record low against the euro at 
the end of the year. If this effect is taken into account, the reve-
nue growth is remarkable. In fact, on the basis of the exchange 
rates prevailing at the end of 2007, UK revenues would have 
been up more than 20 percent. Assuming constant exchange 
rates, revenues came to 183.8 million €, an increase of 16.1 
percent on the previous year.

The pound’s decline had an even more pronounced effect on 
EBIT, with the United Kingdom posting a figure of 2.0 million 
€ (previous year 2.7 million €). Revenues in the German / Aust-
ria / Switzerland (GAS) region grew even more strongly than in 
the previous year, making a further seamless addition to the 
series of successes of earlier years. For the first time, the GAS 
region made the greatest earnings contribution to the Integra-
lis Group. At 2.9 million € (previous year 1.8 million €), ear-
nings rose by almost 63 percent in this region, resulting in an 
EBIT margin of 6.8 percent. Moreover, the GAS region posted 
by far the largest gross margin in the Group, something which 
testifies to the strong position held in this market. Despite the 
economic downturn, Integralis achieved top-line growth of 
15.3 percent in the United States, accompanied by small EBIT 
of 0.1 million € (previous year 1.2 million €). This is related 
to the efforts to restructure the US national company as well 

as the start-up losses which had been expected in connection 
with the takeover of the Network Operations Center (NOC) fol-
lowing the acquisition of the CENTRIS technology.

The revenue and earnings situation in France remains unsa-
tis-factory. In the year under review, structural measures were 
taken to rectify this situation; however, their effect is not yet 
evident in the figures for this region.

This also applies to Sweden, where hopes are being pinned to 
a new country manager and his team. Revenues in this market 
were lower than in France; however, with a loss of 0.3 milli-
on €, the bottom line was better than in France (0.5 million €). 
The United Arab Emirates proved to be the most dynamic re-
gion for Integralis, with local company ProtechT benefiting 
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 2008 2007 Change
 M€ % M€ % %
Technology sales 85.3 50.5 83.0 52.4 2.7
Support Services 54.4 32.2 49.1 31.0 10.6
Consulting, integration and training 17.8 10.6 16.3 10.4 9.8
Managed security services (MSS) 11.4 6.7 9.9 6.2 15.3
Total 168.9 100.0 158.3 100.0 6.7

 2008  2007 Change
 M€ % M€ % %
Recurring revenues 65.8 38.9 59.0 37.3 11.4
Non-recurring revenues 103.1 61.1 99.3 62.7 3.9
Total 168.9 100.0 158.3 100.0 6.7

Revenue by Segment
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from several major contracts awarded by the Qatar ministry of 
internal affairs, amongst other things. With revenues up 35.1 
percent, earnings surged by 252.9 percent, resulting in a signi-
ficant contribution of 0.9 million € to the Group’s profits.

2.2 Revenues by segment

As in the previous year, all segments achieved solid growth. 
At a dynamic 15.3 percent, Managed Security Services recor-
ded the greatest relative growth. In fact, before currency trans-
lation, growth in this segment exceeded 26,6 percent over the 
year as whole. This high-margin segment, to which manage-
ment is devoting meticulous attention, is particularly benefit-
ing from the current clear trend towards outsourcing IT ser-
vices. In fact, this trend strengthened still further in the fourth 
quarter, with a year-on-year increase of 22.7 percent regis-
tered. At 54.4 million € (previous year 49.1 million €), Sup-
port Services were also driven by outsourcing effects. Similar-
ly, revenues from consulting, integration and training climbed 
to 17.8 million € (previous year 16.3 million €). The weakest 
growth was achieved in technology sales. Even so, the figure 
of 85.3 million € was still up on the previous year in absolute 
terms (83.0 million €).
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In the course of the year, there was a shift in the sales mix, 
with recurring revenues increasing at a swifter rate than non-
recurring revenues. With this trend strengthening in the fourth 
quarter, we expect to see a growing shift towards recurring 
revenues against the backdrop of the current adverse econo-
mic conditions. This encouraging trend is having a favourable 
effect on long-term strategic planning as it renders future pay-
ment flows more reliable.

2.4 Staff costs and other operating expenses

The average headcount rose again in the course of the year, 
with Integralis employing an annual average of 471 people 
around the world, an increase of 11.1 percent over the pre-
vious year (424 employees). At the end of the year under re-
view, the headcount stood at 511. Part of this increase is due 
to the asset deal and acquisition of the Centris technology 
platform from US companies Neohapsis Inc. and KSR Inc. As 
part of this transaction, 20 employees were absorbed and de-
ployed at the Integralis Network Operation Center (NOC) on 
the US west coast. Additional recruiting was also necessary 
after a further Security Operation Center (SOC) went into ope-
ration in Singapore. The Integralis Group’s pronounced tech-
nological competence is not least of all reflected in the num-
ber of technical employees, which came to an annual average 
of 242 (previous year 200). According to its own research, 
Integralis has more certified security experts than any other 
company in Europe. 
Despite the economic climate, the market for qualified IT secu-
rity staff remains characterised by strong demand. This consti-
tutes a permanent challenge for the Group’s human resources 
department in its efforts to protect and extend its expertise 
and competitive lead.

2.3 Gross profit and margins

Consolidated gross profit rose to 56.7 million € (previous year 
54.1 million €). At 33.5 percent, the gross margin fell short of 
the previous year’s figure of 34.2 percent, but was right on the 
average for the first nine months of 2008. However, the pre-
vious year’s slightly higher gross margin was primarily due to 
business performance in the first half of 2007. 
In the course of 2008, there was only relatively mild fluctuati-
on in the gross margin. Margins were a good 1 percent higher 
than the average for the second half of 2007 and have clear-
ly stabilised.
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2.5 Depreciation / amortisation, interest, taxes 
and net profit for the year

In 2008, depreciation / amortisation expense dropped back 
down to the long-term average of 1.8 million € (previous year 
2.1 million €). In 2007, an amount of 0.3 million € had been re-
cognised and written off in full as a result of purchase price al-
location in accordance with IFRS 3 to allow for the orders held 
by new acquisition ProtechT.
Net interest income was again recorded at the Group level. 
However, as the interest income on fixed-term deposits shrank 
in 2007, this item came to only 0.1 million € (previous year 
0.3 million €). 
The Integralis Group grew profitably again in 2008, with 
EBITDA rising by 10.9 percent to 7.8 million € (previous year 
7.1 million €). At 6.0 million € (previous year 5.0 million €), 
the growth in EBIT was even greater in 2008, causing the EBIT 
margin to widen from 3.1 percent to 3.5 percent.
Given the earnings achieved in earlier years and the signing of 
a profit transfer agreement with Integralis Deutschland GmbH, 
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The sequential growth in staff costs in the individual quarters 
is due to moderate recruiting activities as well as the high 
variable compensation components, which correlate with the 
achievement of targets in the corresponding periods. 
EBITDA per employee was on a par with the previous year, 
thus testifying to the strong employee efficiency. EBITDA per 
employee came to 16.6 T€ in 2008 (previous year 16.6 T€). The 
achievement of the EBITDA budget targets plays a key role in 
the measurement of the variable compensation components 
for many employees and thus acts as a clear incentive.
Other operating expenses declined to 11.7 million € (previ-
ous year 12.4 million €). The structure of total expenses (staff 
and others) improved relative to consolidated revenues, with 
the increase to 48.8 million € (previous year 47.0 million €) 
disproportionately small compared with the rise in revenues. 
Thus, the ratio of total expenses to gross profit improved from 
87.0 percent in 2007 to 86.2 percent. This ratio was lowered 
steadily from quarter to quarter, dropping to 77.9 percent in 
the fourth quarter.

Sales
33%

Administration
16%

Technical
51%

Group-wide staff costs came to 37.1 million € in 2008 (pre-
vious year 34.6 million €), thus rising at almost the same rate 
as revenues. At 22.0 percent, the ratio of staff costs to reve-
nues was almost unchanged over the previous year.
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Earnings progression since 2004
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Developement of Total Contract Volume

Total consolidated assets were up again year on year as of 
31 December 2008, rising by 10.2 percent to 116.8 million € 
(2007: 106.0 million €) not least of all thanks to substantially 
improved net profit. The equity ratio also widened from 19.8 
to 23.0 percent, resulting in a further improvement in balance 
sheet structures. This is all the more encouraging considering 
that receivables and liabilities systematically rise disproportio-
nately towards the end of the year due to the seasonal nature 
of business in this industry. This effect is further amplified by 
the growing volume of recurring-income contracts, which are 
generally billed at the end of the year.
Current assets rose to 88.2 million € (2007: 85.3 million €), re-
flecting the Group’s brisk business. Specifically, this is due to 
an increase in trade receivables, as well as prepaid material ex-
penses and other prepaid items. 

3. Financial position, net assets and 
order situation

The order backlog rose appreciably over the previous year from 
17.9 million € to 21.7 million €. Total contract volumes, i.e. the 
total value of all support and MSS contracts which have been 
entered into and are active or to be commenced in the future, 
an indicator of future and recurring revenues, increased shar-
ply in the course of the year, reaching a new record of 89.3 mil-
lion € (previous year 70.0 million €) for the Group.
This is defined as the total value of all support and MSS con-
tracts which have been entered into and are active or to be 
commenced in the future.

the available tax losses were examined again to determine the 
extent to which they can be utilised. This primarily resulted in 
income from the recognition of deferred income taxes of 3.5 
million €, leading to net tax income of 3.2 million € (previous 
year 0.0 million €).
As a result, net profit surged to 9.3 million € (previous year: 
5.2 million €), translating into a substantial increase in ear-
nings per share to 0.86 €, up from 0.48 € in 2007. Despite the 
adverse economic conditions, this is the best figure achieved in 
the Company’s more than twenty-year history. 
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On the other hand, cash and cash equivalents shrank from 14.4 
million € to 9.1 million € as of the end of the year. Even so, this 
is a substantial increase of 4.5 million € compared with the end 
of the third quarter, in which a temporary low was recorded.
In fact, in the fourth quarter, Integralis achieved a net cash in-
flow from operating activities of 6.2 million €. The cash flow 
from operating activities for 2008 as a whole came to 4.0 milli-
on € (previous year 5.4 million €). The change is primarily due 
to the somewhat weaker increase in deferred revenues as of 
the 2008 balance sheet date compared with 2007. A substanti-
al proportion of the MSS and support contracts are renewed at 
the end of each year, thus explaining the fluctuation as of De-
cember 31, 2008. In addition, unrealised currency translation 
gains as of the balance sheet date primarily from USD-denomi-
nated liabilities had a negative effect of over 1 million €.
Capital spending focused on the acquisition of Integralis Ös-
terreich GmbH (previously Greschitz IT Security) and earn-out 
payments in connection with the acquisition of ProtechT, Du-
bai. In addition, Integralis recorded cash outflows as a result of 
its spending on the asset deal for the takeover of CENTRIS tech-
nology and the grant of bridge loans for China Managed Ser-
vices Inc. (CMS). Moreover, Integralis acquired a CRM system 
for Group-wide deployment to strengthen its marketing activi-
ties and also spent on its IT infrastructure. In the year under re-
view, cash flow from financing activities rose by around 1 mil-
lion € to 2.3 million € on account of payments made for the 
purchase of the Company’s own shares.
Non-current assets also increased to 28.6 million € at the end 
of the year (previous year 20.7 million €). At 4.9 million €, the 
greatest increase entailed the aforementioned recognition of 
deferred income taxes on tax losses in Germany and the Uni-
ted States. Intangible assets rose primarily as a result of the 
purchase of the CENTRIS technology as well as the start-up 
of the first module of the CRM system in large parts of the 
Group. Goodwill was also up in 2007 due to the acquisition of 
Greschitz IT Security GmbH, Vienna.
On the other side of the balance sheet, the further significant 
increase in net profit for the year of 9.3 million € resulted in a 
corresponding increase in equity. The loss of 2.4 million € car-

ried forward from the previous year was thus more than offset. 
The profit carried forward stands at 6.8 million €.
In line with the aforementioned growth in revenues and the 
seasonal effects on business, current liabilities climbed to 86.4 
million €, up from 80.6 million € in the previous year. Trade 
payables and deferred income made a key contribution to this, 
climbing as they did by 7.2 million €.
At 3.6 million € (2007: 4.5 million €), non-current liabilities 
were well down on the previous year due primarily to the re-
versal of non-current provisions of 2.1 million €. Aside from a 
small number of finance leases, the Group does not utilise any 
external borrowings with related borrowing costs.
As of 31 December 2008, the main items of the balance sheet 
compared with the corresponding figures for the previous year 
were as follows:

Balance Sheet – Assets 
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The gross margin included in the deferred items widened by 
one percentage point from 32.6 percent in the previous year 
to 33.6 percent in the year under review. The following chart 
sets out the changes in deferred income and prepaid cost of 
materials.

All told, the Company’s net assets, financial condition and 
order situation were favourable in 2008. As expected, the 
changes the in main items of the balance sheet (receivables, 
liabilities and deferred items) reflected sales growth and the 
seasonal nature of the Company’s business. No major pay-
ment defaults were sustained despite the changed economic 
conditions and, as far as can be foreseen at this stage, are 
currently not expected. The Group’s liquidity remains positive, 
with flexibility set to widen in 2009 thanks to the precautions 
taken in 2008.

4. Remuneration report

4.1 Management Board remuneration

The members of Integralis AG’s Management Board receive an-
nual compensation comprising fixed and variable components. 
In addition, there are compensation components with a long-
term incentive effect. The Supervisory Board reviews the rea-
sonableness of the variable components in regular intervals. 
The Management Board compensation is performance-orien-
ted and primarily comprises the following three components:

• a fixed component
• a variable component
• a share-based component (share options)

The fixed component is paid in the form of a monthly salary. 
The amount of the variable component depends on the extent 
to which the Group EBIT targets agreed upon with the Supervi-
sory Board are achieved. The underlying model comprises two 
components: The first one constitutes a certain percentage of 
the consolidated EBIT exceeding a predefined minimum EBIT 
target. The second component is a percentage of the consoli-
dated EBIT exceeding the EBIT for the previous year. The tar-
gets are based on a three-year forecast, which assumes a sig-
nificant annual increase in the Group’s EBIT.
The share-based compensation is paid in the form of share op-
tions and is reviewed regularly by the Supervisory Board. The 
existing share options were issued in accordance with the op-
tion terms applicable to all employees and explained in the 
notes to the annual financial statements. Retroactive changes 
to the targets are not possible. In 2008, the members of the 
Management Board were awarded 25,000 share options each 
from the SOP 2007 programme at a strike price of 5.31 € per 
option. As of the date of award, the present value per option 
stood at 1.73 € calculated in accordance with the provisions of 
IFRS 2 by utilising a Monte Carlo simulation. Further informati-
on on the fair value can be found in the description of the SOP 
2007 option programme in the notes to the consolidated fi-
nancial statements for 2008. In accordance with Section 285 
No. 9a of the German Commercial Code, the full fair value 
of the subscription rights awarded in 2008 was allocated to 
Management Board compensation for 2008.
In addition, Georg Magg and Roger Friederich receive a month-
ly flat-rate car allowance to cover the use of private cars on 
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Breakdown of compensation in  Georg Magg Roger Friedrich Graham Jones* Total
accordance with Section 315 (9)  T€  T€  T€ T€
of the German Commercial Code 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007 2008 2007
Fixed compensation  200 180 150 129 79 172 429 481
Variable compensation 41 185 31 139 46 185 118 509
Share-based compensation 43 55 43 55 – 55 86 165
Car allowance 11 11 11 11 –  –  22 22
Allowances for private pension savings 21 18 18 15 3 31 42 64
Total 316 449 253 349 128 443 697 1,241

company business. Graham Jones, who was a member of the 
Management Board up until the middle of 2008, uses a com-
pany car in accordance with the internal guidelines for com-
pany cars applicable in the United Kingdom. The members of 
the Management Board receive allowances for private pension 
savings schemes, which are paid directly into corresponding 
insurance policies (e.g. support funds) by the Company. No 

Changes in stock options and weighted average exercise prices
  Georg Magg Roger Friedrich Graham Jones
  Number of Av. price  Number of Av. price Number of Av. price
   in €  in €  in €
Options as of 1/1 60,000 3.32 35,000 3.79 53,250 3.40
Options granted 25,000 5.31 25,000 5.31 – –
Options forfeited – – – – – –
Options exercised 35,000 2.70 4,000 2.80 28,250  2.70 
Options expired – – – – – –
Options as of 31/12 50,000 4.75 56,000 4.54 25,000 4.19
Average price at strike  5.20  5.19  5.27

Shares and subscription rights held by the 
Management Board
Management  Shares Stock options
Board 2008 2007 2008 2007
Georg Magg 50,000 25,000 50,000 60,000
Graham Jones* – 22,500 – 53,250
Roger Friederich 20,200 16,200 56,000 35,000
Total 70,200 63,700 106,000 148,250
Total shares held by the Management Board as of 31 December 2008: 
0.61 percent
* Graham Jones stepped down from Integralis AG’s Management Board 
effective 30 June 2008

direct pension obligations are held by the Company or any 
other Group members. 
In the year under review, total Management Board compen-
sation came to 697 T€ (2007: 1,241 T€). The individualised 
breakdown is as follows:
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4.2 Remuneration of the Supervisory Board

The Supervisory Board of Integralis AG receives total fixed com-
pensation of 50 T€ plus VAT, if applicable, as approved by the 
shareholders. Of this total amount, the Chairman of the Su-
pervisory Board receives 4 / 9, his deputy 3 / 9 and an ordinary 
member of the Supervisory Board 2 / 9 per year. The compen-
sation is paid on a prorated basis if office is held on the Super-
visory Board for less than a full year. 
In addition, a resolution was passed by the shareholders at 
the annual general meeting on 10 May 2007 providing for the 
members of the Supervisory Board to receive a performance-
time compensation component. Accordingly, they receive vari-
able performance-tied annual compensation. This compensa-
tion equals 15 T€ for every 1,000 T€ by which earnings before 
interest and taxes (EBIT) as reported in the consolidated finan-
cial statements exceed the EBIT recorded in the previous year. 
The EBIT-linked annual variable compensation is capped at a 
maximum of 150 T€ per year. 
In the year under review, total compensation came to 73 T€ 
(2007: 82 T€). The individualised breakdown is as follows:

 2008 2007
 T€ T€
Fixed compensation 50  50 
Variable compensation  23  32
Total  73  82

5. Explanatory report on the disclosures 
made in accordance with Section 315 (4) 
of the German Commercial Code

As of the end of the year, the Company’s subscribed capital 
stood at 11,585,137 € and is divided into 11,585,137 no-par-
value registered shares. There is no right to claim the issue of in-
dividual share certificates. The shares are ordinary shares grant-
ing full voting and asset rights. 
There are no restrictions on voting rights or the transfer of 
shares.
The Company is aware of no direct or indirect shares in its capi-
tal exceeding 10 percent of the voting rights. 
As there are no shares with special rights, there are no holders 
of such shares.
The shares held by employees do not exclude the exercise of 
controlling rights.
The Company’s Management Board comprises two or more per-
sons who are appointed by the Supervisory Board. Otherwise, 
the appointment and dismissal of the members of the Manage-
ment Board is governed by Sections 84, 85 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act. Amendments to the articles of incorporation 
are governed by the provisions contained in Sections 133, 179 
of the German Stock Corporation Act. In the absence of any bin-
ding statutory provisions to the contrary, Article 11 (2) of the 
Company’s articles of incorporation stipulates that resolutions 
are passed with a simple majority of the votes cast and that 
the majority of capital is deemed to constitute the simple ma-
jority of the share capital represented during the passing of the 
resolution.
As of 31 December 2008, the following authorised and contin-
gent capital was available for future use:

• Authorised capital 2008 / I:

In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual gene-
ral meeting of 8 May 2008 the Management Board is autho-
rised, with the Supervisory Board’s approval, to increase the 
Company’s share capital by up to 5,750 T€ on or before 8 May 
2013 either once or in several steps by issuing up to 5,750,000 
new registered shares on a cash or non-cash basis. Pursuant 
to statutory regulations, the Management Board may (with the 
Supervisory Board’s consent) exclude the shareholders’ statuto-
ry subscription rights in order to acquire shares or all or part of 
other companies. 
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As of 31 December 2008, the entire volume of authorised capi-
tal 2008 / I was still available.

• Contingent capital 2003 / I:

In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting on 10 May 2007, the contingent capital 2003 / I was 
reduced to 82.5 T€. The share capital may be increased by up 
to 82.5 T€ through the issue of up to 82,500 shares on a con-
tingent basis. The contingent capital 2003 / I is required to grant 
option rights to members of the Management Board and staff of 
the Company and affiliated companies as well as the manage-
ments of other companies affiliated with the Company (stock 
option programme IV). After the issue of shares, contingent ca-
pital 2003 / I in an amount of 82,440.00 € was still available.

• Contingent capital 2005 / I:

In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting on 10 May 2007, the contingent capital 2005 / I was 
reduced to 52 T€. The share capital may be increased by up 
to 52 T€ through the issue of up to 52,000 shares on a contin-
gent basis. The contingent capital 2005 / I is required to grant 
option rights to members of the Management Board and staff 
of the Company and affiliated companies as well as the ma-
nagements of other companies affiliated with the Company in 
accordance with stock option programme V. After the issue of 
shares, contingent capital 2005 / I in an amount of 42,000.00 € 
was still available.

• Contingent capital 2007 / I:

In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting on 10 May 2007, contingent capital 2007 / I of 945 T€ 
was created. The share capital may be increased by up to 945 T€ 
through the issue of up to 945,000 shares on a contingent ba-
sis. The contingent capital 2007 / I is required to grant option 
rights to members of the Management Board and staff of the 
Company and affiliated companies as well as the managements 
of other companies affiliated with the Company in accordance 
with stock option programme SOP 2007. As of 31 December 
2008, no option rights had been exercised for this contingent 
capital 2007 / I.

• Contingent capital 2007 / II:

At the annual general meeting of 10 May 2007, a resolution 
was passed authorising the Management Board with the Su-
pervisory Board’s approval to issue registered convertible or 
warrant-linked bonds with a total nominal amount of up to 
4,000 T€ and a term of no more than ten years once or in sever-
al steps on or before 9 May 2012. For this purpose, new con-
tingent capital 2007 / II was created. The Management Board 
was additionally authorised to award the bearers or creditors of 
the convertible and / or warrant-linked bonds new shares with a 
prorated amount of share capital of up to a total of 4,000 T€ in 
accordance with the conditions for the convertible and / or war-
rant-linked bonds. 
The share capital may be increased by up to 4,000 T€ through 
the issue of up to 4,000,000 shares on a contingent basis. 
The option or conversion price equals 90 percent of the average 
price of the Company’s stock in the XETRA closing auction at the 
Frankfurt stock exchange during the ten trading days prior to 
the day on which the Management Board passes a resolution to 
issue the bonds, provided that this is no less than the minimum 
issue price stipulated in Section 9 (1) of the German Stock Cor-
poration Act. As of 31 December 2008, no convertible or option 
bonds had been issued for this contingent capital 2007 / II.

• Authorisation to buy back stock

At the annual general meeting held on 8 May 2008, the share-
holders passed a resolution authorising the Management Board 
in accordance with Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock 
Corporation Act to buy back with the Supervisory Board’s ap-
proval up to a maximum of 10 percent of the Company’s own 
shares on or before the expiry of a period of 18 months starting 
with the date on which such authorisation is granted. 
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Integralis AG’s business operations involve both opportuni-
ties and risks. One of the core elements of corporate manage-
ment is to detect, analyze and manage risks. The Company 
endeavours to make optimum use of opportunities while mi-
nimising the risks as far as possible. Risk management plays 
a crucial role in the early detection of any trends liable to 
jeopardise the Company’s going-concern status and in the 
definition of suitable strategies for ensuring its continued exis-
tence. As a matter of principle, the risk management system 
covers the organisational, reporting and management struc-
tures and is supplemented with specific elements. Specifically 
this entails an analysis of the risk dimensions strategy, market 
and competition, service and support, partner and technology 
management, personnel, finance, IT and compliance. The risk 
management system identifies and evaluates risks and moni-
tors and caps them by means of a regular management, re-
porting and controlling system. Group management monitors 
operating risks in the form of regular reports on business per-
formance and particular occurrences in the individual compa-
nies. The parameters of relevance for steering the Group and 
the national companies are available at short notice and up-
dated on a fortnightly or monthly basis in line with Group-
wide rules. Where necessary, measures necessary to reduce 
risk are then taken. The Management Board meets regularly at 
the offices of the individual national companies to review their 
situation at close quarters. Risks are quantified and a scoring 
system used to assess their estimated probability. A particular 
hazard is deemed to arise if the weighted risk equals 20 per-
cent or more of the Company’s equity. 
 
6.1 Currency risks 

As a large part of our business is transacted in US dollars and 
pound sterling, we are exposed to exchange rate risks when 
these amounts are translated into our Group currency, the 
euro. At our national companies, our main suppliers issue their 
invoices in the local currency, meaning that the currency risk is 
primarily confined to the translation of the national companies’ 
financial statements (currency translation risk). In Germany and 
the UK part of the goods are purchased in US dollars. For this 
reason, various hedges, such as currency forwards, zero-cost 
options and average-rate options, were used.

A detailed description of hedging activities can be found in 
Note 8.3 to the consolidated financial statements.
In the year under review, an extensive treasury system was 
defined to achieve substantial structural improvements in the 
corporate finance, FX risk management and cash management 
for the Integralis Group. Work on implementing the new sys-
tem was commenced in 2008 for completion in the first half 
of 2009.

6.2 Market and sector conditions

Over the past few years, IT security business has grown more 
quickly than the economy as a whole, a trend which sector ex-
perts assume will continue. Even so, this sector will not be able 
to fully shield itself from the economy as a whole, with growth 
in individual areas liable to come under pressure.
The IT security market is subject to permanent change, with the 
speed of technological progress accelerating. Accordingly, the 
time required to react to security threat situations is a compe-
titive factor. As a result of changes in individual technological 
areas, margins on the main revenue drivers may erode, thus 
exerting pressure on the Integralis Group’s earnings. The com-
petitive situation and nascent trends in the sector and the eco-
nomy as a whole are therefore monitored closely and analysed 
to detect risks at an early stage so that the Company’s range 
of products and services can be adjusted accordingly with mi-
nimum delay. 
Successive efforts to extend the range of high-margin services 
and to increase the proportion of recurring revenues are re-
ducing the Integralis Group’s exposure to market and sector 
risks, while allowing it to harness economies of scale. This stra-
tegy entails extensions to the range as well as a reduction in 
the dependence on products and producers. Systematic spen-
ding on technological expertise through the development of 
the Company’s own services and new IT security technolo-
gies will help to increase market penetration and enhance the 
Company’s standing in its relations with project partners.

6. Opportunities and risks

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT



32

6.3 Product portfolio and vendor risks

Integralis works closely with numerous top international 
companies. Accordingly, it is exposed to the risk of strategic 
changes on the part of the vendors from whom it sources tech-
nology. This entails changes to price and discount structures as 
well as modifications to corporate policy. Producers may sign 
contracts with our competitors or change their distribution or 
marketing strategies. In the past two years, several producers 
with whom Integralis works closely have been the subject of 
takeovers. The sector is continuing to consolidate at a swift 
pace. The ramifications of these trends are difficult to assess. In 
an effort to minimise such risks, we maintain permanent con-
tact with the management of our suppliers on an international 
and national level. This ensures that we are kept informed at 
short notice of any possible positive or negative changes and 
allows us to take action quickly to benefit from such changes or 
to alleviate their effects. The dual sourcing strategy is contin-
uing to be pursued. As a result, Integralis has alternative sup-
pliers as well as product and solution vendors.

6.4 Staff expertise and motivation

Our employees’ skills form a crucial element of our success and 
part of the basis on which we are extending and defending our 
competitive lead. For this reason, human resources manage-
ment is a key aspect of corporate management.
The Integralis Group’s continued success hinges materially on 
its ability to recruit new qualified staff and to motivate, retain 
and train existing employees. In addition to an interesting area 
of activity and systematic personnel development policies, ap-
propriate remuneration and participation in the Company’s 
success are an important source of motivation, providing em-
ployees with an incentive to remain with the Group. 
Almost half of the employees come from a technical back-
ground. For this reason, the Company is particularly committed 
to offering staff scope for professional or career development 
to bind expertise bearers on a sustained basis. As part of the 
integrated human resources strategy, new career models are 
currently being developed for scientific / technical staff.

In addition, the sustained organisational changes are making 
high demands of staff. On the one hand, this offers constant-
ly new prospects of development and challenges but, on the 
other, may place an excessive burden on staff. For this reason, 
the planned activities call for a high degree of management 
competence on the part of the individual supervisors. This is to 
be supported with the international establishment of uniform 
human resources standards and processes.
In the year under review, the Group implemented an innova-
tive long-term human resources strategy. One main aspect of 
this is personnel development, with internal training and skills 
development forming a key element of this at Integralis. 

6.5 IT risks

This comprises network failure, the risk of data being corrupted, 
destroyed or stolen as a result of operating errors and / or ex-
ternal factors and restrictions in the availability of applications. 
Allowance is being made for changing requirements at the ap-
plication level. In 2008, a new Group-wide CRM system was 
implemented to provide the best possible support for standar-
dised internal processes.
As specialists in IT security, we are familiar with the relevant 
security precautions in the configuration of hardware and soft-
ware for mission-critical enterprise processes and are able to 
react swiftly. We are increasingly using standardised software 
on a cross-border basis and making greater use of virtualisa-
tion of the server infrastructure and encryption for mobile ter-
minals. 
In addition to seeking greater reliability, the measures being 
taken this year also aim at improving network and applica-
tion speed. Internal IT support is to be extended in the first 
half of 2008 in an effort to enhance both quality and avail-
ability in line with the needs of our increasingly internationa-
lised business.
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7. Outlook

All economic research institutes expect a substantial decline in 
gross domestic product in 2009, with the euro-zone economy 
seen as contracting by between 0.5 and 1.9 percent. The ex-
perts project a drop of between 0.9 and 2.5 percent in the Ger-
man economy and between 0.9 and 1.8 percent in the United 
States. The consensus view is that we face the worst recession 
since the end of World War II. The financial crisis has since fed 
through to the real economy with great momentum. In con-
trast to earlier recessions, this crisis is not confined to individu-
al regions but is afflicting nearly all main economies and key 
industries at the same time. Only the massive decline in oil pri-
ces is providing some relief for industry and households. 
Although the IT market is showing initial signs of slowing, it is 
a good deal more robust than many other industries.
IDC (Source: “Economic Crisis Response: Worldwide IT Spend-
ing 2008 – 2012 Forecast Update”) has lowered its forecasts 
for IT spending growth in 2009 from 4 to 1 percent in Wes-
tern Europe and from 16 to 9 percent in Eastern Europe, with 
the German market also set to expand by only 1.2 percent 
in this period. However, it sees growth returning to 1.8 per-
cent in Germany as early as in 2010. IDC expects project-ori-
ented services such as IT consulting or system integration to be 
more heavily affected by the crisis. However, given the neces-
sary infrastructure and application projects, system integra-
tion should weather the economic crisis reasonably well. 
However, IDC expects IT service business to achieve steady 
growth, with an increase of 3.3 percent possible in 2009. An 
average annual rate of 4.7 percent is forecast for the period 
from 2007 through 2012.
The analysts at PAC (source; “Economic Meltdown” webinar) 
also see growth in some areas, with project services, for ex-
ample, to expand by 1.5 percent in 2009 and by 3 percent in 
2010. Application software business should also grow by 2.0 
percent this year and 3.3 percent next year. However, PAC ex-
pects outsourcing to achieve the greatest growth, namely 7.2 
percent this year and as much as 7.7 percent in 2010.
Forrester Research also considers US business to be a growing 
market for IT outsourcing with expansion rates of between 4.5 
and 5 percent over the next two years. IT services are also ex-
pected to rise moderately by 2.2 percent in 2009 and by as 
much as 7.9 percent in 2010.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  GROUP MANAGEMENT REPORT



34

In an online survey of 200 IT and security experts, Finjan has 
identified positive trends for IT budgets in 2009. Although IT 
budgets will generally be slightly lower than in 2008, compa-
nies are allocating a greater portion of their budget to IT secu-
rity. The study comes to the conclusion that the trend towards 
increased IT security budgets is a good deal more pronounced 
in the financial services industry and in the public sector than 
in other areas.
In 2008, the Integralis Group was able to improve its posi-
tion by gaining market share. In particular, it benefited from 
the trend towards outsourcing IT services as many companies 
see this as a way of achieving quick savings.
Over the past few years, management at Integralis has been 
steadily focusing on Managed Security Services (MSS) with 
its strong potential for future growth and high margins. The 
expected continued expansion in this segment should offset 
the effects on earnings of possible revenue declines in other 
areas.
With total order volumes reaching a new record at the end of 
the year, Integralis is able to react from a position of relative 
strength.
Integralis is in fact benefiting from the crisis in some business 
areas. Its business model is so far proving to be stable precise-
ly in the face of difficult economic conditions. 
Looking ahead over the next two years, we also expect a con-
tinuation of the trend which emerged in the second half of 
the year towards a shift in the revenue breakdown. We as-
sume that income from the sale of technology will remain flat 

or contract slightly. On the other hand, the second half of 2008 
already revealed positive signals indicating rising revenues 
and earnings from service and particularly MSS business. As a 
pure-play IT security specialist, Integralis can help customers to 
lower their costs and concentrate on their core business. This 
means that the current economic conditions may facilitate the 
transformation process which we are seeking. However, this 
success is not yet visible due to the deferred recognition of 
revenues from contract business. 
The decisive challenge facing Integralis in 2009 and 2010 will 
be to manage the speed at which revenue flows change. 

Ismaning, March 2009

The Management Board
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Responsibility Statement

To the best of our knowledge, and in accordance with the ap-
plicable reporting principles, the consolidated financial state-
ments give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, fi-
nancial position and profit or loss of Integralis group, and the 
group management report includes a fair review of the deve-
lopment and performance of the business and the position of 
the group, together with a description of the principal oppor-
tunities and risks associated with the expected development 
of the group.

Ismaning, March 2009

Integralis AG
The Management Board

Georg Magg Roger Friedrich
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FIGURES, DATA & FACTS
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    01/01 - 31/12/2008 01/01 - 31/12/2007
      Note  T€ T€
Revenue  168,870 158,269
Cost of Sales  112,218 104,174
Gross Profit  56,652 54,095
Personnel expenses 5.1 37,096 34,648
Other operating expenses 5.2 11,729 12,393
Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation
and amortisation (EBITDA)  7,827 7,054
Depreciation and amortisation 5.5 1,837 1,811
Amortisation of order backlog ProtechT (IFRS 3)  0 270
Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT)  5,990 4,973
Interest income  285 413
Interest expense  203 149
Other financial result  0 1
Financial result 5.6 82 266
Earnings before taxes (EBT)  6,072 5,238
Taxes 5.7 -3,203 11
Net profit  9,275 5,228

Basic weighted average number  
of shares outstanding  10,713,340 10,816,842
Basic net earnings per share (EUR) 5.8 0.86 0.48
Diluted weighted average number
of shares outstanding  10,848,296 11,225,768
Diluted net earnings per share (EUR) 5.8 0.85 0.47

INCOME STATEMENT (IFRS)
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BALANCE SHEET (IFRS)

Assets  31/12/2008 31/12/2007
   Note T€ T€
Cash and cash equivalents 4.1 9,089 14,366
Trade receivables 4.2 44,944 40,368
Inventories 4.3 1,469 1,638
Deferred cost of sales  28,780 26,525
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 4.4 3,935 2,445
Current assets  88,217 85,342
Property, plant and equipment 4.5  3,085  2,699 
Intangible assets 4.6 3,313 1,681
Goodwill 4.7 15,937 14,895
Deferred tax assets 4.8 6,297 1,428
Non-current assets  28,632 20,703
Total assets  116,849 106,045

Liabilities and Shareholders‘ Equity  31/12/2008 31/12/2007
   Note T€ T€
Financial liabilities   68  63
Trade payables  28,871 25,661
Accrued expenses 4.9 7,731 8,863
Deferred revenue  43,328 39,350
Income tax payables  669 1,037
Other current liabilities                                                                   4.10 3,995 3,896
Current provisions 4.12 1,688 1,685
Current liabilities  86,350 80,555
Financial liabilities   1430  1,497 
Long-term debts  0 118
Deferred tax liability 4.11 1,473 83
Provisions                                                                                      4.12 701 2,835
Non-current liabilities  3,604 4,533
Subscribed capital 4.13  11,585  11,585 
Treasury shares  -1,151 -849
Capital reserves  10,919 11,966
Share option reserve  729 550
Foreign currency translation reserve  -2,019 148
Profit / loss brought forward  -2,443 -7,671
Net profit  9,275 5,228
Retained earnings  6,832 -2,443
Shareholders‘ equity  26,895 20,957
Total liabilities and shareholders‘ equity  116,849 106,045
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT (IFRS)

   01/01 - 31/12/2008 01/01 - 31/12/2007
  T€ T€
Net profit 9,275 5,228
Adjustments for: 
Interest result -82 -265
Tax result 301  1,050 
Depreciation and amortisation 1,837 2,081 
Increase / (decrease) deferred taxes - 3,478  - 1,039 
Increase / (decrease) in provisions -1,332 -1,429 
Increase in share option reserve 179 127
Foreign exchange losses / (gains) -1,084 -305
Interest received 285 506
Interest paid -203 -241 
Taxes received – 52 
Taxes paid - 301 - 343
Change of net working capital -1,376 -62
Cash flow from / (used in) operating activities 4,021 5,360
 
Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired -1,587 -1,958
Payment for the future investment -285  –
Purchases of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets -3,350 -1,729
Cash flow from / (used in) investing activities -5,222 -3,687
 
Proceeds from issue of share capital and exercise of stock options 223 160
Payment for the purchase of treasury shares -2,297 -1,347
Granting of loan -1,291 –
Proceeds from short or long-term borrowings -118  118 
Payment of capital lease liabilities -63 -76 
Cash flow from / (used in) financing activities -3,546 -1,145
 
Net effect of currency translation in cash and cash equivalents -530 -505 
Decrease / (increase) in cash and cash equivalents -5,277  23
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 14,366 14,342 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 9,089 14,366
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS‘ EQUITY

Number of shares Subscribed  Treasury  Capital Share  Foreign  Retained Total
issued at 31/12/2008: capital shares reserves option  currency  earnings
11.585.137 registered shares    reserve translation  
      reserve 
   T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€
01/01/2007 11,548 -1,040 11,736 423 893 -7,671 15,889
Utilisation for earn-out 
for Netsecure purchase  172 473    645
Utilisation for purchase of ProtechT  225 776    1,001
Fulfilment for stock options exercised  34 48    82
Decrease through acquisition   
of own shares   -240 -1,108    -1,348
Issue of new shares 37  41    78
Increase on grant of      
share options    127   127
Changes arising from 
currency conversion     -745  -745
Net profit      5,228 5,228
31/12/2007 11,585 -849 11,966 550 148 -2,443 20,957

01/01/2008 11,585 -849 11,966 550 148 -2,443 20,957
Utilisation for earn-Out for      
ProtechT purchase  96 439    535
Utilisation for purchase of Greschitz      
IT Security GmbH, Wien  35 155    190
Fulfilment for stock options  
exercised   80 143    223
Decrease through acquisition
of own shares  -513 -1,784    -2,297
Increase on grant of share options    179   179
Changes arising from currency conversion     -2,167  -2,167
Net profit      9,275 9,275
31/12/2008 11,585 -1,151 10,919 729 -2,019 6,832 26,895

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  FIGURES, DATA & FACTS



42

FIXED ASSETS MOVEMENTS 2007

  Costs of Acquisition or Production
  Balance Additions Acquired Disposals Transfers Currency Balance
  01/01/2007  assets   conversion 31/12/2007
   T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€
Property, plant and equipment
Property and leasehold rights  
including buildings on 
non-owned land  1,943   –  32  – – –  1,975 
Other equipment, fixtures,  
fittings and equipment  16,233   604   24  -2,969  -702  -1,151   12,039 
   18,176   604   56  -2,969  -702  -1,151   14,014 

Intangible assets
Industrial property rights and
similar rights and licences to 
such rights  2,207   581   270  -276   617  -115   3,284 
Self developed intangible assets  632   545  –  –  86  -28   1,235 
   2,839   1,126   270  -276   703  -143   4,519 

Goodwill
Goodwill  29,875  –   4,960   – – –   34,835 
   29,875  –   4,960   – – –   34,835 
        
   50,890   1,730   5,286  -3,245   1  -1,294   53,368 
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  Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value
Balance Additions Acquired Disposals Transfers Currency Balance 31/12/2007 31/12/2006
01/01/2007  assets   conversion 31/12/2007
T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€

       501  79   9   – - 39   –  550   1,425   1,439
 
  13,977   1,028   22  -2,954  - 262  -1,047   10,764   1,275   2,256 
  14,478   1,107   31  -2,954  - 301  -1,047   11,314   2,700   3,695 

   1,875   576   290  -133   100  -179   2,529   755   332 
          –  108  – –  201  –  309   926   632 
   1,875   684   290  -133   301  -179   2,838   1,681   964 

   19,940  – –   – – –   19,940   14,895   9,935 
   19,940  – – – – –   19,940   14,895   9,935

   36,293   1,791   321  -3,087   – -1,226   34,092   19,276   14,594 
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FIXED ASSETS MOVEMENTS 2008

  Costs of Acquisition or Production
  Balance Additions Acquired Disposals Transfers Currency Balance
  01/01/2008  assets   conversion 31/12/2008
   T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€
Property, plant and equipment
Property and leasehold rights  
including buildings on 
non-owned land 1,975 15 8 – – 2 2,000
Other equipment, fixtures,  
fittings and equipment 12,039 1,103 31 -2 -3,350  -2,338   7,483 
  14,014 1,118 39 -2 -3,350  -2,336   9,483 

Intangible assets
Industrial property rights and
similar rights and licences to 
such rights 3,284 372 108 -43  3,350  -1,125   5,946 
Self developed intangible assets 1,235 2,082 – -201   –    203   3,319 
  4,519 2,454 108 -244  3,350  -922   9,265

Goodwill
Goodwill 34,835 213 829 – – – 35,877
  34,835 213 829 – – – 35,877
       
  53,368 3,785 976 -246 – -3,259 54,625
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  Accumulated Depreciation Net Book Value
Balance Additions Acquired Disposals Transfers Currency Balance 31/12/2008 31/12/2007
01/01/2008  assets   conversion 31/12/2008
T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€ T€

     550 85 – – – 2 636 1,363 1,425

10,764 785 – -5 -3,350  -2,433   5,761   1,722  1,275
11,314 870 – -5 -3,350  -2,431   6,398  3,085 2,700

 2,529 353 –  183   3,350  -1,319   5,096  850 755
    309 614 – -177    –    111   856   2,462 926
2,838 967 – 6  3,350  -1,208   5,952   3,312  1,681

19,940 – – – – – 19,940 15,937 14,895
19,940 – – – – – 19,940 15,937 14,895
        
34,092 1,837 – 1  –  -3,639   32,290   22,334  19,276
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SEGMENT REPORTING
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Primary segment reporting 01/01 - 31/12/2008 01/01 - 31/12/2007
   T€ T€
Revenue   
United Kingdom 68,118 66,113
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 43,384 38,151
United States 28,015 24,306
France 12,032 13,540
Sweden 11,138 11,580
United Arab Emirates 6,183 4,578
Total Revenue 168,870 158,269

Gross profit   
United Kingdom 21,606 21,846
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 17,227 15,013
United States 8,662 7,987
France 3,450 4,483
Sweden 3,400 3,731
United Arab Emirates 2,308 1,035
Total gross profit 56,652 54,095

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
United Kingdom 2,017 2,724
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 2,942 1,806
United States 112 1,159
France -531 21
Sweden -273 640
United Arab Emirates 861 244
Unallocated / Headquarter 862 - 1,621
Total earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 5,990 4,973
 
Depreciation and amortisation   
United Kingdom 532 553
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 672 665
United States 322 307
France 96 94
Sweden 119 90
United Arab Emirates 44 304
Unallocated / Headquarter 52 67
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,837 2,081

PRIMARY SEGMENT REPORTING
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Primary segment reporting 01/01 - 31/12/2008 01/01 - 31/12/2007  
 T€ T€

Capital expenditure & investment   
United Kingdom 1,035 459
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 1,307 553
United States 626 255
France 187 78
Sweden 232 75
United Arab Emirates 86 253
Unallocated / Headquarter 100 56
Total capital expenditure & investment 3,573 1,729

Segment assets   
United Kingdom 25,554 30,078
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 25,397 22,020
United States 19,426 11,561
France 10,443 9,630
Sweden 10,927 9,842
United Arab Emirates 10,611 7,781
Unallocated / Headquarter 4,011 771
Total segment assets 106,370 91,682

Segment liabilities    
United Kingdom 24,478 27,502
Germany / Austria / Switzerland 24,392 21,979
United States 15,668 9,897
France 10,356 9,425
Sweden 5,219 4,472
United Arab Emirates 3,792 2,883
Unallocated / Headquarter 1,019 6,252
Total segment liabilities 84,924 82,410

PRIMARY SEGMENT REPORTING
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Secondary segment reporting 01/01 - 31/12/2008 01/01 - 31/12/2007
       T€ T€
Revenue
Support Services 54,352 49,132
Managed Security Services 11,388 9,881
Consulting, integration & training 17,850 16,251
Technology sale 85,280 83,006
Total revenue 168,870 158,269

Capital expenditure & investment
Support Services 888 438
Managed Security Services 640 272
Consulting, integration & training 835 322
Technology sale 1,210 697
Total capital expenditure & investment 3,573 1,729

Segment assets  
Support Services 56.633 49,945
Managed Security Services 5.046 4,438
Consulting, integration & training 7.293 5,952
Technology sale 37.398 31,346
Total segment assets 106.370 91,682

SECONDARY SEGMENT REPORTING
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(IFRS) OF INTEGRALIS AG

Integralis Group is an internationally active provider of IT se-
curity solutions and services. As of the balance sheet date, it 
had 511 employees and 20 branches in five European coun-
tries, the United States, the United Arab Emirates and Singa-
pore. Integralis AG’s shares are listed in the Prime Standard 
segment of the Frankfurt stock exchange.
Integralis helps companies to establish secure communications 
networks and to handle transactions via public and private net-
works. The broad range of services comprises extensive IT se-
curity solutions, consulting, system integration and support.
Integralis AG prepares its consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with the International Financial Reporting Stan-
dards (IFRS) published by the International Accounting Stan-
dards Board (IASB) as endorsed in the European Union, as well 
as the supplementary accounting provisions contained in Sec-
tion 315a of the German Commercial Code. The consolidated 
balance sheet, consolidated income statement, consolidated 
cash flow statement, Group segment report and the consoli-
dated statement of changes in equity have been prepared in 
thousands of Euros (T€). The consolidated income statement 
has been prepared using the nature of expense method.
The Management Board of Integralis AG released the consoli-
dated financial statements and the Group management report 
for submission to the Supervisory Board on 31 March 2009. 
The Supervisory Board is responsible for examining the conso-
lidated financial statements and for determining whether it ap-
proves them.

1.1 Legal disclosures

Integralis AG is a listed joint share company (Aktiengesell-
schaft) incorporated and operating in accordance with German 
law with registered offices in 85737 Ismaning, Robert-Bürkle-
Straße 3, Germany. It is entered in the Munich commercial 
register under the number HRB 121349.
 
1.2 Application of International Financial Repor-
ting Standards (IFRS) and declaration of confor-
mance

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2008 
of Integralis AG as the parent company in the Integralis Group, 

Subsidiary Domicile Share in 
  capital held
  %
Activis Inc. Hartford, USA  100 
Articon-Integralis SAS Paris, France 100
Integralis SAS Paris, France 100
Integralis AB Stockholm, Sweden 100
Integralis Inc. Hartford, USA 100
Integralis LLC Hartford, USA 100
Integralis Schweiz AG Givisiez, Switzerland 100
Integralis Services Ltd. Reading, UK 100
Integralis Holdings Ltd. Reading, UK 100
Integralis Ltd. Reading, UK 100
Integralis Services GmbH Ismaning, Germany 100
Integralis Deutschland GmbH  Ismaning, Germany 100
Integralis Österreich GmbH Vienna, Austria 100
Nocitra Ltd. Reading, UK 100
ProtechT FZ LLC Dubai, UAE 100
ProtechT Technical Services LLC Abu Dhabi, UAE 49
Integralis Services Pte. Ltd. Singapore 100

have been prepared using consistent accounting and valuation 
principles in accordance with the IAS / IFRS standards including 
the SIC / IFRIC interpretations endorsed by the European Union 
and mandatory as of the balance sheet date. The figures for the 
previous year have been calculated using the same methods.
The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2008 
conform to all International Financial Reporting Standards 
which were required to be applied in the European Union in 
the year under review. 

1.3 Consolidation

All domestic and non-domestic subsidiaries are consolidated 
in full by Integralis AG. In the year under review, the following 
companies in which Integralis AG holds a 100 % share either 
directly or indirectly or which are controlled by it were conso-
lidated:

1. General disclosures

The profit or loss of subsidiaries acquired or sold during the 
year under review is reported in the consolidated financial 
statements up until the actual date of sale or as of the actual 
date of acquisition, as the case may be.
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The following table sets out the net assets acquired, the total 
acquisition costs and the goodwill as of 1 January 2008.

Greschitz IT Security GmbH: Net assets acquired
 Carrying Adjustments Fair value
 amount as of    as of  
 1 Jan 2008  1 Jan 2008
Intangible assets 
(order backlog) – 83 83
Cash and cash 
equivalents 17 – 17
Trade receivables 9 – 9
Other assets 65 – 65
Other current liabilities 
and provisions 28 – 28
Net assets acquired 63 83 146

Greschitz IT Security GmbH: business combination costs 
and goodwill as of  31 December 2008
 T¤
Purchase price paid in cash 760
Purchase price paid using treasury share 190
Preliminary ancillary business combination costs 25
Outstanding consideration 140
Expected business combination costs 1,115
Less fair value of net assets acquired 146
Goodwill 969

1.4 Date of group statements

The consolidated financial statements were prepared effec-
tive 31 December 2008. The income statement, the cash flow 
statement and the statement of changes in equity cover the 
period from 1 January 2008 until 31 December 2008. The 
date of the consolidated financial statements is identical to 
that used in the single-entity financial statements prepared by 
the consolidated companies.

1.5 Summary of significant accounting and 
consolidation policies

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the 
basis of historical cost with the exception of the revaluation of 
certain non-current assets and financial instruments. The main 
recognition and valuation methods are explained below.
Nocitra Ltd. (formerly Articon-Integralis Ltd.; Reading, UK) 
and its subsidiaries were included in the consolidated finan-
cial statements on 1 January 2000 for the first time using the 
uniting-of-interests method. For this purpose, the difference 
between the proportionate share capital of these subsidiaries 
plus a peak cash settlement amount and the carrying value of 
the shares in the subsidiaries were offset against equity in the 
capital consolidation.
The other companies were consolidated in accordance with the 
purchase method set out in IFRS 3. In the case of companies 

On 12 November 2007, Integralis announced the planned ac-
quisition of the Vienna-based company Greschitz IT Security, 
with first-time consolidation effective as of 1 January 2008. 
The Group expanded into Austria under the roof of Integra-
lis Deutschland GmbH. The purpose of the acquisition was to 
penetrate the Austrian market more swiftly using the excel-
lent reputation enjoyed by the company, which was founded 
in 1995 by Thomas Greschitz, on the strength of competent 
advice and first-class expertise in the areas of identity and ac-
cess management with small and large companies in the past 
13 years. The company was renamed Integralis Österreich 
GmbH on 5 June 2008.
Since being consolidated for the first time, Greschitz IT Security 
GmbH has generated revenues of 0.206 million €, with a loss 
of 0.122 million € sustained at the EBITDA level. In connection 
with the allocation of the business combination expenses in 
accordance with IFRS 3, the expected gross profit of 0.083 mil-
lion € from the existing backlog of maintenance contracts was 
capitalised and will be written off over a period of five years. 
Amortization expense for 2008 came to 0.030 million €. 
As payment for the acquisition, the company transferred 
34,521 of its own shares at a value of 5.50 € each. 

On the basis of the agreed earnings targets for 2007 and 2008, 
earn-out obligations of 0.073 million € arose in connection 
with ProtechT. 
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 Closing rate Average rate 
  31/12/08 31/12/07 31/12/08 31/12/07
GBP 1.04 1.36 1.24 1.46
USD 0.72 0.68 0.68 0.73
CHF 0.67 0.60 0.63 0.61
SEK 0.09 0.11 0.11 0.11
SGD 0.50 – 0.48 –
AED 0.19 0.18 0.18 0.20

acquired prior to 1 January 2005, the assets were measured 
at their fair values as of the date of acquisition in accordance 
with IAS 22. Any differences were recognised as goodwill and 
amortised. 
Companies acquired after 1 January 2005 are consolida-
ted in accordance with the provisions of IFRS 3 by allocating 
the purchase price to the fair value of the net assets as of the 
date of acquisition. On the date of acquisition, the business 
combination costs are allocated to the identifiable assets 
and liabilities acquired up to the amount of their fair value 
(purchase price allocation).
Since 1 January 2005, the impairment-only approach stipu-
lated by IAS 36 has been applied to subsequent valuation. 
Where necessary, goodwill is adjusted to a lower fair value.
Intercompany revenues and profits, expenses and income as 
well as all receivables and liabilities between consolidated 
companies are eliminated in accordance with IAS 27.24.
The consolidation methods applied were unchanged over the 
previous year.

1.6 Currency translation

Single-entity financial statements in foreign currencies
The currencies of all the single-entity financial statements pre-
pared in a currency other than the Euro were translated in ac-
cordance with IAS 21 using the functional currency principle. 
The functional currencies of the Integralis Group companies are 
the same as their respective national currencies. 
The consolidated financial statements were prepared using 
the Euro as the functional currency, this also being the parent 
company’s functional currency.
The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries were trans-
lated to Euro at the end-of-year exchange rate and expenses 
and income at the annual average exchange rate. The resul-
ting translation differences were recognised under equity. Any 
translation differences arising from capital consolidation are 
also recognised under equity.
The goodwill arising from the acquisition of a foreign business 
as well as any adjustments to fair value are translated using 
the end-of-year exchange rate.

The application of IAS 29 “Financial Reporting in Hyperinflatio-
nary Economies” was not necessary as Integralis does not have 
any subsidiaries in such hyperinflationary economies.
The single-entity financial statements not prepared in Euros 
were translated using the following exchange rates:

Foreign-currency transactions
Foreign-currency transactions are translated at the exchange 
rate prevailing on the date on which they are executed. Any 
translation differences arising between the date of transaction 
and the date of payment are taken to the profit and loss ac-
count. Foreign-currency receivables and liabilities are transla-
ted at the closing rate, with any resulting translation gains or 
losses taken to the profit and loss account.
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2.1 Changes in accounting policies due to new 
standards

In 2008, it was necessary to apply the following IASB / IF-
RIC standards and interpretations for the first time. However, 
they did not have any effect on Integralis AG‘s consolidated 
financial statements:

• IAS 39 / IFRS 7: Reclassification of non-derivative financial
 instruments
• IFRIC 11 / IFRS 2: Group and treasury share transactions
• IFRIC 14  / IAS 19: The limit on a defined benefit asset, 
 minimum funding requirements and their interaction

It was necessary for Integralis to modify its recognition and 
valuation principles as a result of the compulsory application 
of the new standards.

New accounting rules
The following standards and interpretations which had been 
announced and endorsed by the European Union as of Decem-
ber 31, 2008 had not yet taken effect as of the balance sheet 
date and were therefore not applied to these financial state-
ments:

• IAS 1 (revised): Presentation of Financial Statements 
• IAS 23 (revised): Borrowing costs 
• IAS 32 / IAS 1: Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments:
 Presentation
• IFRS 2: Share-based payment, vesting conditions 
 and cancellations
• IFRS 8: Operating segments 
• IFRIC 13: Customer loyalty programmes 

In addition, the following standard and interpretations had 
been published but not yet endorsed by the European Union:

• IFRS 3: Business combinations (IFRS 3 (2008))
• IAS 27: Consolidated and separate financial statements 
 (IAS 27 (2008))
• IAS 39: Financial instruments
• IFRS 1/ IAS 27: Cost of an investment in a subsidiary, 
 jointly-controlled entity or associate
• IFRIC 12: Service concession arrangements
• IFRIC 15: Agreements for the construction of real estate
• IFRIC 16: Hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
 operation
• IFRIC 17: Distributions of non-cash assets to owners
• IFRIC 18: Transfers of assets from customers

The material effects on the Company‘s financial statements of 
the first-time application of these new and revised standards 
and interpretations will now be analysed:

IAS 1 – Presentation of Financial Statements
In September 2007, the International Accounting Standard 
Board (IASB), published IAS 1 “Presentation of financial state-
ments (revised)”. This replaces IAS 1, “Presentation of finan-
cial statements (revised in 2003)” in the 2005 version. The re-
vision seeks to improve the possibility for analyses as well as 
the comparability of financial statements for users. IAS 1 pro-
vides guidance on the presentation and structure of the finan-
cial statements. In addition, it sets out minimum requirements 
for the content of the financial statements. The revised stan-
dard must be applied to accounting periods commencing on 
or after 1 January 2009. Early adoption is permitted. The first-
time application of IAS will result in changes to the way in 
which Integralis AG presents its financial statements.

2. Recognition and valuation principles
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IAS 23 – Amendments to IAS 23: Borrowing costs
In March 2007, the IASB announced the amended IAS 23 “Bor-
rowing Costs”, which stipulates the capitalisation of borrowing 
costs in connection with the acquisition, construction or pro-
duction of a qualifying asset. The option of taking such bor-
rowing costs directly to the profit and loss account has been 
abolished. This is not expected to exert any material effect on 
Integralis AG‘s future consolidated financial statements.

IIFRS 3 – Business combinations, (IFRS 3 (2008) and IAS 27, 
Consolidated financial statements and accounting for in-
vestments in subsidiaries (IAS 27 (2008))
In January 2008, the IASB published the revised standards 
IFRS 3 „Business combinations“, (IFRS 3 (2008)) and IAS 27 
„Consolidated separate financial statements (IAS 27 (2008)).
IFRS 3 (2008) provides new guidance on the application of 
the purchase method for business combinations. The materi-
al amendments relate to the measurement of non-controlling 
interests, the recognition of step transactions and the treat-
ment of purchase price components and transaction costs. IFRS 
3 is to be applied to business combinations of mutual entities 
and business combinations in the absence of valuable consi-
deration (shares listed in two markets). These entities had pre-
viously not come within the scope of IFRS 3 (2004). IFRS 3 
does not apply to joint ventures or to business combinations 
under joint control. All business combinations coming within 
the scope of IFRS 3 must be recognised in accordance with 
the purchase method. Assets and liabilities are recognised at 
their fair value on the date of acquisition. Under the new rules, 
non-controlling interests can be measured either at their fair 
value (full-goodwill method) or at the fair value of the iden-
tifiable net assets acquired. Intangible assets acquired must 
always be recognised and measured. Goodwill is measured 
as the difference between the sum total of the fair value of 
the consideration transferred as of the date of acquisition, the 
amount of all non-controlling interests and, in the case of a 

step transaction, the fair value of the shares in the entity ac-
quired held by the acquirer prior to such step transaction and 
the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabi-
lities assumed. In the case of step transactions, the shares are 
remeasured at the fair value of the shares held as of the trans-
fer of control adjustments to contingent consideration recog-
nised as of the date of acquisition as liabilities must be re-
cognised in profit and loss in the future. Transaction costs are 
recorded as expense as of the date on which they arise.
Material amendments included in IAS 27 (2008) relate to the 
recognition of transactions in which a company retains con-
trol as well as transactions in which control is lost. Transac-
tions which do not result in a loss of control, are recognised 
under equity as equity transactions. The remaining shares are 
measured at their fair value as of the date on which control is 
lost. In the case of non-controlling interests, negative balances 
are permissible, meaning that in the future losses can be allo-
cated without any limits in proportion to the share held. The 
standards must be applied to accounting periods commenc-
ing on or after 1 July 2009. The effects on Integralis AG‘s future 
consolidated financial statements cannot be assessed until the 
standards are actually applied.

IAS 32 / IAS 1: Amendments to IAS 32 Financial instruments: 
Presentation
In February 2008, the IASB published amended versions of 
“IAS 32 Financial instruments presentation and IAS 1 Presen-
tation of financial statements – puttable financial instruments 
and obligations arising on liquidation”. The amendments pri-
marily concern the classification of certain types of financial 
instruments as equity or debt capital. In addition, further dis-
closures in the notes are stipulated for the financial instruments 
in question. These revisions apply to accounting periods com-
mencing on or after 1 January 2009; earlier adoption is permis-
sible. The application of the revised standard will not have any 
material effect on future consolidated financial statements.
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IAS 39 – Financial instruments
In July 2008, the IASB published amendments to IAS 39 “Fi-
nancial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The 
amendments are set out in a document entitled „Eligible 
hedged items – amendment to IAS 39 financial instruments: 
recognition and measurement“. They are based on the cur-
rent rules under which an entity may include all, part or cer-
tain risks of a hedged item. To simplify the application of the 
unchanged basic principles, the application principles have 
been extended with respect to the inclusion of inflation in a 
financial hedged item as well as the inclusion of a one-sided 
risk in a hedged item (e.g. with an option as a hedge). It is 
stated that as a principle inflation risks cannot be hedged ex-
cept if changes in inflation are a contractually specified por-
tion of cash flows of a recognised financial instrument. In 
the case of a one-sided risk, the entity may designate an op-
tion as a hedge of changes in the cash flows or fair value 
of a hedged item above or below a specified price or other 
variable. The amendments make clear that the intrinsic 
value, not the time value, of an option reflects a one-sided 
risk. Therefore, if an entity designates an option in its entirety 
as a hedge of a one-sided risk arising from a forecast trans-
action, hedge ineffectiveness will arise as only the hedge has 
a fair value component. These amendments are to be applied 
for the first time in accounting periods commencing on or 
after 1 July 2009; earlier adoption is permissible The EU Com-
mission has not yet endorsed these amendments. Integralis 
AG is currently examining the effects which application of this 
standard will have on its consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 1 / IAS 27 - Acquisition-related costs
In May 2008, the IASB published the revised versions of IFRS 
1 “First-time adoption of international financial reporting 
standards” and IAS 27 “Consolidated and separate financial 
statements” under the changes, entities adopting the Inter-
national Financial Reporting Standards for the first time are 
able to recognise the cost of acquiring an investment either 
at its fair value or at the carrying amount determined using 
the previously applied national accounting principles. This 

applies to jointly controlled entities, associates and subsidi-
aries. This amendment allows for the fact that the retroac-
tive measurement of transaction costs under IAS 27 may in 
some cases necessitate unreasonably high expense or efforts 
when IFRS is adopted for the first time. In addition, the obli-
gation provided for in IAS 27 to reduce the transaction costs 
when retained earnings formed prior to the acquisition of the 
share are distributed has been deleted. Dividends of joint-
ly controlled entities, associates and subsidiaries must now 
be recorded in profit and loss regardless of whether the di-
vidend stems from profits arising before the date of acquisi-
tion or not. If the dividends for a given year exceed the total 
earnings for that year, an impairment test must be perfor-
med. These revisions apply to accounting periods commenc-
ing on or after 1 January 2009; earlier adoption is permis-
sible. The effects on Integralis AG‘s future consolidated finan-
cial statements cannot be assessed until the standards are 
actually applied.

IFRS 2 – Share-based payment, vesting conditions and can-
cellations
In January 2008, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 2 
“Share-based payment, vesting conditions and cancellations”. 
The amendment clearly states that vesting conditions are ser-
vice conditions and performance conditions only. Other fea-
tures of a share-based payment are not vesting conditions. In 
addition, it stipulates that all cancellations, whether by the en-
tity or by other parties, should receive the same accounting 
treatment. The amendment must be applied to accounting pe-
riods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. Integralis does 
not expect IFRS 2 to have any material effect on its future con-
solidated financial statements.
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IFRS 8 – Operating segments
As part of the Short Term Convergence Projects (IFRS 8.BC2) 
between the IASB and the FASB, segment reporting was placed 
on a different conceptual basis as a result of IFRS 8, which was 
endorsed by the European Union in November 2007. The defi-
nition of segments, the determination of reportable segments, 
segment accounting methods and the segment information to 
be disclosed are now based solely on the internal organisa-
tion structure of the reporting entity and hence its internal fi-
nancial reporting structure (“management approach”). External 
segment reporting is thus brought into line with internal finan-
cial to give users the same information that management also 
uses as a basis for its decisions. This marks a departure from 
the “risk and reward approach” applied in IAS 14 to segment 
identification. At the same time, the financial accounting ap-
proach provided for in IAS 14 is replaced by the management 
approach for measuring the segments. IFRS 8 must be applied 
in accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. 
Early adoption is permissible provided that this fact is disclosed 
in the financial statements. The first-time application of IFRS 8 
will result in changes to Integralis AG‘s segment reporting.

IFRIC 12 – Service concession arrangements
IFRIC 12 “Service concession arrangements” provides guidance 
on accounting for arrangements whereby a government or 
other body grants contracts for the supply of public services –
such as roads, energy distribution, prisons or hospitals – to pri-
vate operators. IFRIC 12 must be applied to accounting peri-
ods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. It is not expected 
to have any effect on Integralis AG‘s future consolidated finan-
cial statements.

IFRIC 13 – Customer loyalty programmes
IFRIC 13 provides guidance on accounting for customer loyal-
ty programmes. It stipulates that premiums granted under such 
programmes must be treated as future sales transactions sepa-
rately from the basic transaction. Accordingly, they are contracts 
with several separately identifiable components as defined in 
IAS 18.13. IFRIC 13 must be applied in accounting periods com-
mencing on or after 1 January 2009; earlier application is recom-

mended. This interpretation will not have any effect on Integralis 
AG‘s future consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 15 – Agreements for the construction of real estate
IFRIC 15 provides guidance on accounting for entities which de-
velop land and, in this capacity, sell units, such as residential 
apartments or houses, prior to completion. It defines the criteria 
for accounting for them in accordance with either IAS 11 Cons-
truction Contracts or IAS 18 Revenue. IFRIC 15 must be applied 
to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009. 
It is not expected to have any effect on Integralis AG‘s future 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 16 – Hedges of a net investment in a foreign 
operation
IFRIC 16 provides guidance on hedge accounting for net invest-
ments in a foreign operation. It stipulates that hedge relation-
ships can only be recognised between the functional currency 
of the foreign operation and the parent‘s functional currency. 
The amount of the net assets of the foreign operation recog-
nised in the consolidated financial statements can be hedged. 
The hedge can then be held by any group company (with the 
exception of the one whose foreign currency exposure is being 
hedged). When the foreign operation is deconsolidated, the 
changes in the value of the hedge recorded under equity and 
the exchange rate gains and losses of the foreign operation re-
corded under equity must be recognised in profit and loss. The 
amount of the cumulative profit or loss attributable to the fo-
reign entity being deconsolidated is determined using the step 
or the direct consolidation method. IFRIC 16 must be applied 
to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 October 2009. 
It is not expected to have any effect on Integralis AG‘s future 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 17 – Distributions of non-cash assets to owners
IFRIC 17 provides guidance on how non-cash assets paid to 
owners as dividends are to be treated. A dividend liability must 
be recognised when the dividend is appropriately authorised 
and is no longer at the discretion of the entity. An entity should 
measure the dividend payable at the fair value of the net assets 
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to be distributed. It should recognise the difference between 
the dividend paid and the carrying amount of the net assets 
distributed in profit or loss. Additional disclosures should be 
provided if the net assets being held for distribution to owners 
meet the definition of a discontinued operation. IFRIC 17 must 
be applied to accounting periods commencing on or after 1 Ju-
ly 2009. It is not expected to have any effect on Integralis AG‘s 
future consolidated financial statements.

IFRIC 18 - Transfers of assets from customers
Published in January 2009, IFRIC 18 “Transfers of assets from 
customers” provides additional guidance on accounting for the 
transfer of assets by customers. According to the IASB, it is 
particularly relevant for the energy industry. IFRIC 18 clarifies 
the requirements stipulated in the IFRSs with respect to agree-
ments in which an entity receives from a customer an item of 
property, plant and equipment that the entity must then use 
either to connect the customer to a network or to provide the 
customer with ongoing access to a supply of goods or services. 
It also relates to cases in which the entity receives cash from 
a customer that must be used only to acquire or construct the 
item of property, plant and equipment.
The interpretation governs:

• the criteria for determining whether an asset has arisen; 
• recognition and initial measurement of the asset; 
• the identification of individually identifiable service 
 obligations in exchange for the asset transferred; 
• recognition of revenues; 
• accounting for the transfer of cash from the customer.

IFRIC 18 must be applied prospectively to transfers of assets 
from customers received on or after 1 July 2009. Earlier appli-
cation is permitted provided that certain conditions are met. It 
is not expected to have any effect on Integralis AG‘s future con-
solidated financial statements.

In May 2008, the IASB released its first collective standard “Im-
provements to IFRS” detailing minor amendments to the exis-
ting IFRSs. This standard contains amendments to 20 IFRSs in 
two sections. The first section details changes affecting presen-
tation, recognition and measurement. The second section com-
prises changes to wording or editorial changes. In the absence 
of any stipulation to the contrary in the individual standards, 
these amendments are to apply for the first time in accoun-
ting periods commencing on or after 1 January 2009; earlier 
adoption is permissible. Assuming that they are endorsed by 
the EU in this form, Integralis does not expect these amend-
ments to have any material effect on its consolidated finan-
cial statements.
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2.2 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the cash flow statement in accordance with 
IAS 7, all cash and cash equivalents with an original term of 
less than three months are recognised at their nominal value. 
This item primarily comprises cash at banks, cheques and cash 
in hand as well as short-term fixed deposits.

2.3 Receivables and other assets

Receivables and other assets are recognised at their fair value. 
Allowance is made for individual interest and credit risks. Profit 
and loss is assigned to earnings for the period if the receivables 
are derecognised or written down.

2.4 Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments such as currency forwards, 
average-rate options and zero-cost options are used to par-
tially hedge the risks arising from currency fluctuations. Deriva-
tive financial instruments are not treated as fair-value hedges 
or cash-flow hedges as defined in IAS 39. They are recorded 
at their market value as of the balance sheet date. Financial 
assets are recognised at their buying / selling price as of the 
date of the transaction and reported as other assets or other 
liabilities. 
Any changes in fair value are recognised in the profit and 
loss account. Fair value is defined as the value which can be 
achieved in business operations under prevailing market con-
ditions.

2.5 Inventories
 
Inventories are recognised at cost in accordance with IAS 2 less 
reasonable adjustments for all discernible risks arising from re-
duced or absent marketability. All goods are measured using 
the FIFO (first in-first out) method.

2.6 Deferred cost of goods sold

The deferred cost of goods sold primarily comprises of pay-
ments made for maintenance contracts purchased from sup-
pliers which do not yet represent expenses in the year under 
review. This item is expensed over the remaining term of the 
contract.

2.7 Property, plant and equipment

In accordance with IAS 16, property, plant and equipment are 
recognised at cost less systematic straight-line depreciation. 
Where necessary, they are adjusted to match their fair value, 
if this is lower. Maintenance costs are reported as expense for 
the period. The expected useful lives are between one and ten 
years. In accordance with IAS 16.67, property, plant and equip-
ment is either derecognised upon being disposed or when con-
tinued use or sale of the asset are not expected to generate any 
economic benefits. The gains or losses resulting from the dis-
posal of an asset are calculated as the difference of the net pro-
ceeds of the sale and the carrying value of the asset and recog-
nised in the income statement for the period in which the asset 
is derecognised. The expected useful lives, residual values and 
depreciation methods are reviewed once a year and all neces-
sary changes to estimates made on a preemptive basis.
In the case of leases in which the Group is the lessee, economic 
ownership of the leased assets is assigned to the lessee in ac-
cordance with IAS 17 if it bears materially all of the opportuni-
ties and risks from the ownership of such asset (finance lease). 
The depreciation methods and useful lives are the same as 
those for comparable assets acquired. As a matter of principle, 
they are recognised at cost as of the date of the contract. The 
corresponding lease obligations are reported under liabilities. 
The interest component of the lease liabilities is recorded in the 
income statement and spread over the term of the lease. 
If leases provide for economic ownership to remain with the 
lessor (operating lease), the asset in question is carried on the 
lessor’s books. The resultant lease payments are expensed in 
full.
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2.8 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired are recognised at cost. Software and 
licences are amortised on a straight-line basis over their ex-
pected useful lives of three to five years. Where necessary, they 
are adjusted to match their fair value, if this is lower.
Development costs are recognised as intangible assets if in the 
light of the technical and economic viability it is likely that the 
Company will derive a future economic benefit from the devel-
opment project and the costs attributable to the project during 
the development phase can be reliably calculated. The devel-
opment costs recognised in accordance with IAS 38 are amor-
tised over three years.

2.9 Goodwill

In accordance with IFRS 3, the Group stopped recording syste-
matic depreciation for goodwill as of 1 January 2005.
The carrying values of the goodwill recognised by the Group 
are subject to impairment testing in accordance with IAS 36 as 
of each balance sheet date or on other dates in the event of 
any indication of impairment. Assets are always written down 
to their fair value if the expected recoverable amount of an as-
set or a cash-generating unit is less than its carrying value. Im-
pairments are reported in the income statement under “Good-
will amortisation”. Impairment losses reported for goodwill are 
not reversed in later periods.

2.10 Taxes

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to 
(recovered from) the taxation authorities using the tax rates 
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
by the balance sheet date.
Deferred taxes are calculated using the balance-sheet orien-
ted liability method (IAS 12), under which deferred taxes are 
recognised for all accounting and measurement differences ari-
sing between IFRS-based measurement and the applicable tax 
bases. 

In addition, current tax assets are recognised for future tax 
reduction claims arising from tax losses. 
Deferred tax assets are calculated for all deductible temporary 
differences and tax losses, however only to the extent that it is 
probable that the Company will have sufficient taxable income 
in the future against which the temporary differences or un-
used tax losses can be utilised. 
Deferred taxes were calculated on the basis of income tax 
rates which according to IAS 12 applied or were expected to 
apply as of the balance sheet date.

2.11 Deferred revenues

Deferred revenues primarily comprise income received from 
customers for maintenance and MSS contracts which do not 
yet constitute any revenue in the year under review. This item 
is reversed over the remaining term of the contract.

2.12 Provisions and liabilities

Liabilities are recognised at their settlement amount.
Current provisions comprise liabilities for goods or services al-
ready received but not yet paid for or invoiced or for which no 
formal contract has yet been entered into with the creditor. 
This also includes staff payments due for payment, e.g. vari-
able compensation components. 
Provisions are recognised if there is a current (legal or con-
structive) obligation towards a third party from a past event 
which will probably result in an outflow of resources and 
whose amount can be reliably estimated. Provisions are recog-
nised at the most likely amount. 
Provisions are expensed through the profit and loss account.
Provisions which have a residual term of more than one year 
are discounted at normal market conditions. 
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2.13 Equity 

The breakdown of and movements in equity can be seen from 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the notes 
to the balance sheet. In accordance with IAS 32, treasury shares 
are deducted from the Company’s equity in an amount equal-
ling the cost of such shares.

2.14 Revenue recognition

Revenues are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
received or owing and are recognised when it is likely that the 
economic benefit will flow to the Group and the amount of the 
revenues can be reliably determined.
Revenues are recognised upon the sale of a product provided 
that the material opportunities and risks arising from owner-
ship of the products sold are transferred to the buyer. This ge-
nerally occurs upon the products being dispatched.
Revenues are not recognised if there is any uncertainty as to 
the consideration or if there is a high likelihood of the goods 
being returned.
In the case of long-term maintenance, support and MSS con-
tracts, the revenues and related costs are distributed over the 
term of the contracts. 
Some services are provided by third parties, while in other 
cases the Company sells its own services. In the case of the 
Company’s own services, the resultant revenues are recorded 
in accordance with the percentage of completion achieved as 

 2008 2007
 in T€ in T€ 
Net profit for the period 9,275 5,228
Foreign currency translation 
reserve -2,167 -745
Sum of gains and expenses  
included in equity 7,108  4,483
Thereof attributable 
to shareholders 7,108  4,483

of the balance sheet date. If it is not possible to reliably deter-
mine the percentage of completion of a contract, only revenues 
equalling the expenses which have arisen and are subject to 
reimbursement are recognised.

2.15 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in the income statement for the 
period in which they arise (IAS 23).
 
2.16 Treasury shares

Treasury shares are deducted from subscribed capital at its 
nominal value of 1 € per share. The difference between the 
nominal value and the buying or selling price is offset with the 
capital reserve. In 2008, the Company acquired and also sold 
treasury shares.

2.17 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net pro-
fit for the year attributable to the shares by the average num-
ber of shares outstanding. This figure may be diluted by po-
tential shares (primarily share options). Earnings per shares are 
calculated in accordance with IAS 33.

2.18 Employee benefits

Post-retirement benefit plans
The subsidiaries in the UK, the United States and Sweden 
have established post-retirement benefit plans for staff. With 
all these plans, the subsidiaries pay a certain percentage of 
their employees’ remuneration into a pension fund; employ-
ees are entitled to join the post-retirement benefit plan. The 
Group’s financial obligation is confined solely to the prorated 
share; it has no other obligations beyond this. There are no 
obligations for post-retirement benefits on the face of the 
balance sheet. 
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Share-based compensation
The Integralis Group awards share options to members of the 
Management Board as well as the officers of affiliated com-
panies and employees of the Group. All of the options awar-
ded after 7 November 2002 and vesting after 1 January 2005 
were recognised in accordance with IFRS 2. If the share op-
tions are exercised, the obligation is settled either by utilising 
treasury shares or by issuing new shares from the Company’s 
contingent capital. All existing share option programmes are 
tied to the performance of Integralis AG’s share. Accordingly, 
the utilisation of option rights is subject to market conditions. 
When options are awarded, their fair value is calculated and 
distributed over the period ending upon the options vesting in 
full. The share options awarded prior to 1 January 2007 were 
measured in accordance with the Black-Scholes option price 
model. Options awarded after 1 January 2007 undergo Mon-
te-Carlo simulation to determine their fair value on the date of 
award. The expected number of vested share options is regu-
larly reviewed as of the balance sheet date. 
In addition, members of the Supervisory Board were awar-
ded share appreciation rights (STAR programme). These rights 
were also subject to market conditions but are always settled 
in cash when they are exercised. Integralis remeasures the fair 
value of all outstanding rights as of each balance sheet date 
pending settlement.
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In the application of the aforementioned accounting prin-
ciples, it is necessary to make estimates, assumptions and 
judgements to calculate the carrying value of assets and liabi-
lities if no information is available from any other sources. The 
estimates and underlying assumptions are based on historical 
experience and other factors which are considered to be rele-
vant. Actual figures may differ from the estimates.
The assumptions underlying the estimates are reviewed regu-
larly. Any changes in estimates which concern only a single pe-
riod are allowed for only in such period. If the changes concern 
the current and future periods, allowance is made for them in 
this and future periods.
The key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sour-
ces of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next finan-
cial years are discussed below.

3.1 Impairment of goodwill

To identify any impairment of goodwill, it is necessary to cal-
culate the value in use of the cash-generating unit to which 
the goodwill has been allocated. The calculation of the value 
in use necessitates an estimate of future cash flows from the 
cash-generating unit as well as a suitable discount rate for cal-
culating the present value. The carrying value of the goodwill 
as of the balance sheet date stands at 15,937 T€. 

3.2 Imminent losses in connection with 
vacant buildings

In the United Kingdom, there are rental leases in force for 
office space expiring in 2019. The Group does not use all of 
the office space concerned and has not sublet all of it or for the 
remaining duration of the lease. As of 31 December 2008, it 
has set aside provisions of 701 T€ to cover rental shortfalls 

on the assumption that all of the premises which it does not 
use itself will be sublet as of 2013. If the vacancy extends be-
yond 2013 or the existing subleases are terminated earlier than 
planned, this may exert pressure on earnings as it will be ne-
cessary to adjust the provisions accordingly. In the event of a 
sustained sublease being signed for all of the unused premises 
prior to 2013, this may result in the provisions being reversed, 
in which case the proceeds from such reversal will be taken to 
the profit and loss account.

3.3 Recognition of deferred tax assets for 
future tax reimbursement claims as a result 
of tax losses and temporary differences

The Group recognised deferred tax assets from temporary 
differences as well as tax losses as of 31 December 2008. The 
tax reimbursement claims are recognised only to the extent 
that it is probable that taxable profits will be available in the 
foreseeable future against which the deferred tax assets can 
be utilised.
The estimate as to future taxable profit has been made on the 
basis of historical experience as well as future expectations of 
the business performance of the companies in question. If busi-
ness does not perform as expected and it is no longer consi-
dered probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to realise all or part of the tax reimbursement claims, the car-
rying value of the deferred tax assets will be lowered as of the 
next balance sheet date and the resultant expense taken to the 
income statement.

3. Important accounting estimates and judgements
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 2008 2007
 T€ T€ 
Trade receivables 44,997 40,414 
Impairments -53 -46
Total 44,944 40,368

Inventories break down as follows:

 2008 2007
 T€ T€ 
Finished goods 1,469 1,638
Impairments – – 
Total 1,469 1,638

4.1 Cash and cash equivalents

As of the balance sheet date, there were cash and cash equiva-
lents of 9,089 T€ (previous year: 14,366 T€). Of this, an amount 
of 58 T€ (2007: 255 T€) is subject to restricted availability as it 
has been pledged to cover bank guarantees issued for rental 
deposits and contractual performance obligations.

4.2 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are shown net of adjustments for bad debts. 
All trade receivables and other assets are due for settlement 
within one year. Individual adjustments of a total of 53 T€ have 
been included to allow for any reduced payment receipts. 

4.3 Inventories
As of the balance sheet date, future lease payments break 
down as follows:

Settlement  Future  Discount Present 
period payments  value
  T€ T€ T€
In less than one year 163 -95 68
Between one and  
five years 813 -400 413
Over five years 487 -167 320
Total 1,463 -662 801

4.4 Prepaid expenses and other assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets are valued at 3,935 T€ 
(2007: 2,445 T€) and comprise deposits and other security 
payments of 34 T€ (2007: 76 T€), advance payments of 566 T€ 
(2007: 470 T€) and prepaid expenses of 1,267 T€ (2007: 
1,899 T€). Prepaid expenses primarily entail rentals, insurance 
premiums and maintenance contracts. In 2008, this item al-
so included 85 T€ (2007: 8 T€) for the fair value of derivative 
financial instruments.

4. Notes on the consolidated balance sheet

4.5 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are broken down in the state-
ment of changes in assets (see appendix). 
Currency translation differences between the balance sheet 
dates are reported in the consolidated statement of change in 
assets under “Translation”.
There were no impairment losses or reversals of previous im-
pairment losses in connection with property, plant and equip-
ment in the year under review.
Property, plant and equipment include assets valued at 
1,497 T€ (previous year: 1,411 T€) for which the Group com-
pany in question is deemed to be the economic owner on ac-
count of the structure of the underlying leases.
Finance leases primarily concern two buildings and a piece 
of land, for which call options may be exercised in 2010 and 
2017, respectively. The leased items are recognised at their fair 
value by the lessee in accordance with IAS 17. A depreciation 
rate of 4 % is applied. The interest expense arising in connec-
tion with finance leases stands at 99 T€ (2007: 105 T€) on the 
basis of an interest rate of 6.54 %.
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4.6 Intangible assets

This item comprises software and related licenses, develop-
ment costs capitalised in accordance with IAS 38 and the 
maintenance contract backlog of 67 T€ (2007: 137 T€) gained 
in connection with the allocation of the business combination 
costs arising from the acquisition of Netsecure Sweden. Further 
contracts of 83 T€ were obtained through the acquisition of 
Greschitz IT Security GmbH, Vienna. 

4.7 Goodwill

Since 1 January 2005, the impairment-only approach stipula-
ted by IFRS 3 has been applied to the revaluation of goodwill. 
The goodwill of 15,937 T€ (2007: 14,895 T€) has been calcula-
ted on the basis of the value in use. The addition of 829 T€ re-
lates to the acquisition of Greschitz IT Security GmbH, Vienna, 
on 1 January 2008 and the outstanding payment of a further 
instalment of 140 T€ towards the purchase price. In addition, 
further payments of 73 T€ were made in 2008 in connection 
with the acquisition of ProtechT in 2007.
Impairment testing involved a comparison of the carrying va-
lues in question with the values in use. The values in use were 
calculated on the basis of the present value of future pre-tax 
earnings (EBITDA) in the light of the following assumptions:

• Period of five years as of 2009
• Use of internal forecasts for 2009
• For the years after 2009:
 – Revenue growth of between 5 % and 7.5 %
 – Increase in costs of between 1.3 % and 1.9 %
 – Pre-tax discount rates of between 10.1 % and 14.9 %

No impairment losses were recorded in 2008.

The carrying values of the goodwill were assigned to the fol-
lowing cash-generating units (CGUs):

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Integralis Germany 224 224
Integralis UK 22 22
Integralis Switzerland 906 906
Integralis Austria 969 –
Integralis US 644 644
Integralis France 3,114 3,114
Integralis Sweden 5,025 5,025
Integralis UAE 5,033 4,960
Total 15,937 14,895

The recoverable amounts of the cash generating units were 
calculated on the basis of the following assumptions, which 
are subject to estimation uncertainties: 

Revenue growth and growth rates used to extrapolate the 
cash flow forecasts beyond the current planning period:
The growth rates are based on various studies on the future 
performance of the market. These include a risk discount on ac-
count of the management estimates. In this connection, it was 
assumed that the smaller CGUs have greater growth potenti-
al than the larger ones. To allow for the estimation uncertain-
ty, all growth rates applied are below the forecast for the sec-
tor as a whole as well as the Group’s historical revenue growth 
before currency translation.

Gross margin:
Gross margins were calculated on the basis of management’s 
experience and historical performance. To allow for the esti-
mation uncertainty, a deduction was made to the assumed 
gross margins. Thus, declines of between 1 and 1.25 percen-
tage points p.a. in the margin were used to calculate the re-
coverable amount for one CGU.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  NOTES



66

Personnel and other costs relative to changes in 
revenues:
It was assumed that costs will increase by around 50 % of the 
rate at which revenues increase. Here as well, cautious as-
sumptions were applied to allow for estimation uncertainties. 
Thus, in these consolidated financial statements, for exam-
ple, costs rose by only 56.6 % of the rate at which revenues in-
creased. 

Discount rate:
A post-tax discount rate of 10.1 % is applied, on the basis of 
which the pre-tax discount rates were adjusted in accordance 
with IAS 36.A20. This rate was determined on the basis of the 
Company’s weighted average cost of capital (WACC) using ex-
ternal analysis (IAS 36.A17) adjusted for a risk premium on 
the basis of CAPM. This interest rate is also used internally 
for measurement purposes in connection with acquisition proj-
ects.

Deferred tax assets break down as follows: 

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Non-current assets /
intangible assets 1,864 840
Unused tax losses 4,433 573
Provisions 0 15
Total 6,297 1,428

4.9 Accruals

Accruals comprise the following: 

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Outstanding invoices 
for material  3,694 6,152
Personnel obligations 1,610 2,283
Others 2,427 428
Total 7,731 8,863

4.10 Other current liabilities

The other current liabilities of 3,995 T€ (2007: 3,896 T€) com-
prise liabilities in connection with social security of 985 T€ 
(2007: 1,001 T€), deferred income of 1,470 T€ (2007: 851 T€) 
and other current liabilities.

4.11 Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities break down as follows: 

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Retained earnings 0 58
Provisions 1,473 25
Total 1,473 83

4.8 Deferred tax assets
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The provisions for onerous lease concern the office space in 
the United Kingdom. The rental and lease contracts entered 
into by Nocitra Ltd. valued at 527 T€ have a remaining term of 
around 11 years. 
An amount of 1,688 T€ was set aside to provide for the earn-
out commitments in connection with the acquisition of Pro-
techT FZ LLC, Dubai. This commitment is due for settlement in 
less than one year. 
The provisions for the STAR programme concern the share 
appreciation rights awarded to the Supervisory Board. This 
programme expired in 2008.

4.13 Equity 

4.13.1 Share capital, authorised capital and 
contingent capital

The share capital stood at 11,585,137 € as of 31 December 
2008 (31 December 2007: 11,585,137 €) and is divided into 
11,585,137 registered no-par-value shares. 
As of 31 December 2008, the following authorised and contin-
gent capital was available for future use:

Authorised capital 2008 / I:
In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual gen-
eral meeting of 8 May 2008 the Management Board is autho-
rised, with the Supervisory Board’s approval, to increase the 
Company’s share capital by up to 5,750 T€ on or before 8 May 

 01/01/2008 Utilised Released Additions Exchange 31/12/2008 
     Rate Effect 
 T¤ T¤ T¤ T¤ T¤ T¤
Onerous leases 1,486 – -442 – -343 701
Earn-Out ProtechT, Dubai 2,952 -1,337 – 73 – 1,688
STAR program 82 -82 – – – 0
Total 4,520 -1,419 -442 73 -343 2,389

2013 either once or in several steps by issuing up to 5,750,000 
new registered shares on a cash or non-cash basis. Pursuant 
to statutory regulations, the Management Board may (with the 
Supervisory Board’s consent) exclude the shareholders’ statu-
tory subscription rights in order to acquire shares or all or part 
of other companies. 
As of 31 December 2008, the entire volume of authorised capi-
tal 2008 / I was still available.

Contingent capital 2003 / I:
In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual gen-
eral meeting on 10 May 2007, the contingent capital 2003 / I 
was reduced to 82.5 T€. The share capital may be increased 
by up to 82.5 T€ through the issue of up to 82,500 shares on 
a contingent basis. The contingent capital 2003 / I is required 
to grant option rights to members of the Management Board 
and staff of the Company and affiliated companies as well as 
the managements of other companies affiliated with the Com-
pany (share option programme IV). After the issue of shares, 
contingent capital 2003 / I in an amount of 82,440.00 € was 
available.
 
Contingent capital 2005 / I:
In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting on 10 May 2007, the contingent capital 2005 / I was 
reduced to 52 T€. The share capital may be increased by up to 
52 T€ through the issue of up to 52,000 shares on a contingent 
basis. The contingent capital 2005 / I is required to grant op-

4.12 Non-current provisions

The changes in non-current provisions were as follows in the 
year under review: 
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tion rights to members of the Management Board and staff of 
the Company and affiliated companies as well as the manage-
ments of other companies affiliated with the Company in ac-
cordance with share option programme V. After the issue of 
shares, contingent capital 2005 / I in an amount of 42,000.00  € 
was available.

Contingent capital 2007 / I:
In accordance with a resolution passed at the annual gen-
eral meeting on 10 May 2007, contingent capital 2007 / I of 
945 T€ was created. The share capital may be increased by 
up to 945 T€ through the issue of up to 945,000 shares on a 
contingent basis. The contingent capital 2007 / I is required to 
grant option rights to members of the Management Board and 
staff of the Company and affiliated companies as well as the 
managements of other companies affiliated with the Compa-
ny in accordance with share option programme SOP 2007. As 
of 31 December 2008, no option rights had been exercised for 
this contingent capital 2007 / I.

Contingent capital 2007 / II:
At the annual general meeting of 10 May 2007, a resolution 
was passed authorising the Management Board with the Su-
pervisory Board’s approval to issue registered convertible or 
warrant-linked bonds with a total nominal amount of up to 
4,000 T€ and a term of no more than ten years once or in sev-
eral steps on or before 9 May 2012. For this purpose, new con-
tingent capital 2007 / II was created. The Management Board 
was additionally authorised to award the bearers or creditors 
of the convertible and / or warrant-linked bonds new shares 
with a prorated amount of share capital of up to a total of 
4,000 T€ in accordance with the conditions for the convertible 
and / or warrant-linked bonds. 
The share capital may be increased by up to 4,000 T€ through 
the issue of up to 4,000,000 shares on a contingent basis. The 
option or conversion price equals 90 percent of the average 
price of the Company’s share in the XETRA closing auction 
at the Frankfurt share exchange during the ten trading days 
prior to the day on which the Management Board passes a re-
solution to issue the bonds, provided that this is no less than 
the minimum issue price stipulated in Section 9 (1) of the Ger-

man Stock Corporation Act. As of 31 December 2008, no con-
vertible or option bonds had been issued for this contingent 
capital 2007 / II.

4.13.2 Disclosures concerning capital 
management

As of 31 December 2008, the equity ratio stood at 23.0 % (pre-
vious year: 19.8 %). The Integralis Group’s main financial ob-
jectives are to increase its enterprise value on a sustained ba-
sis and to ensure solvency at all times. Integralis’ enterprise 
value is materially influenced by steady growth in profitability. 
Work on establishing group-wide currency-based cash pools 
was commenced in 2008 to increase flexibility with respect to 
liquidity. In connection with the related extension to a Group-
wide treasury function, greater attention will be paid in 2009 
to the management of the capital structure. 

4.13.3 Net income for the year and profit 
carried forward

The net income for 2008 of 9,275 T€ (2007: 5,228 T€) will be 
carried forward.
 
4.13.4 Capital reserve

The Group’s capital reserve (10,919 T€; 2007: 11,966 T€) par-
ticularly comprises Integralis AG‘s capital reserve. The amount 
of this item was influenced by a withdrawal for the purchase 
of ProtechT (earn-out of 439 T€) and the purchase of Greschitz 
IT Security (155 T€). Treasury shares of 143 T€ were used to 
honour obligations from the exercise of options. Treasury 
shares for 1,784 T€ were acquired.
In addition, there is a reserve for share options of 729 T€ 
(2007: 550 T€). The increase results from the grant of new 
options of 179 T€.
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5.1 Personnel expenses

In the year under review, wages and salaries came to 31,588 T€ 
(2007: 29,457 T€). Social security payments were valued at 
5,508 T€ (2007: 5,191 T€) and included expenditure on defi-
ned-contribution benefits of 412 T€ (2007: 435 T€) (see also 
Note 8.8). Personnel expenses include 178 T€ (2007: 127 T€) 
by way of share-based compensations under the share op-
tion programmes.
 
5.2 Other operating expenses

Other operating expenses break down as follows:

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Other personnel expenses  
(e.g. travel, training, temporary staff) 3,977 3,902
Company cars (maintenance,  
leases, insurance etc.) 2,216 2,105
Others 2,891 1,789
Legal and advisory costs 895 1,488
Rental, repairs 1,673 1,437
Marketing 747 1,065
Insurance 501 550
Recruiting 684 367
Finance costs (e.g. bank fees
net currency gains and losses) -1,855 -311
Total 11,729 12,392

Finance costs include exchange rate gains and losses netted 
with bank fees, adjustments to receivables and other finance 
costs. This resulted in net income of 1,855 T€ in 2008 (2007: 
311 T€). 
Personnel and other operating expenses relating to research 
and development came to 663 T€ in 2008 (2007: 719 T€).

5.3 Exchange rate gains and losses

Exchange rate gains of a total of 1,823 T€ (2007: 482 T€) from 
the translation of monetary items were reported in the income 
statement under other operating expenses. A sum of 2,167 T€ 
(2007: 745 T€) was recognised under equity.

5.4 Profit from the sale of financial assets

The Company did not receive any profit from the sale of finan-
cial assets in 2008.

5.5 Depreciation / amortisation

The breakdown of depreciation / amortisation expense by in-
tangible assets, property, plant and equipment and financial 
assets can be seen in the statement of changes in assets.
Total depreciation / amortisation expense came to 1,837 T€ in 
2008 (2007: 2,081 T€). In 2007, this included the depreciation 
of 270 T€ in connection with the order books capitalised as a 
result of the acquisition of ProtechT FZ LLZ, which were iden-
tified as intangible assets as part of the purchase price alloca-
tion in accordance with IFRS 3.

5.6 Interest income and expense

Interest income and expense breaks down as follows:

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Interest income 285 413
Interest income from   
discounting provisions – –
Total finance income 285 413
Interest expense -203 -114
Interest cost of provisions – -35
Total finance expense -203 -149
Total 82 264

5. Notes on the consolidated income statement

5.7 Income taxes

Income taxes include the current and deferred income taxes 
paid or owed in the individual countries. Deferred taxes are 
calculated on the basis of the tax rates applicable or expected 
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Tax expense for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Current tax expense 1,750 1,050
Tax refunds for earlier years 0 0
Deferred tax liabilities / (assets) 4,953 -1,039
Summe 3,203 11

Income tax expense on earnings before tax is calculated as fol-
lows:

  2008 2007
  T€ T€
Ergebnis von Steuern 6,072 5,238
 Income tax expense / (income)  
on the basis of the German 
tax rate of 28.9 % 1,755 2,043
 Difference arising from the  
application of national tax rates -243 -56
 Non-deductible expenses 114 1,061
 Deferred tax assets on  
unused tax losses -3,916 -573
 Deferred tax assets on  
temporary differences  -1,037 -466
 Deferred tax liabilities on  
temporary differences 1,449 –
 Non-taxable income -152 -384
 Utilisation of unused tax losses -1,336 -1,703
 Income from the reversal  
of tax provisions -13 30
 Other items 176 59
 Income tax expense / (income) -3,203 11

In the year under review, the corporate tax rate stood at 15 % 
plus the solidarity surcharge of 5.5 %. This results in an effec-
tive corporate tax rate of 15.8 %. Including trade tax of 13.1 %, 
the total tax rate stood at 28.9 %.

5.8 Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share as defined in IAS 33 are calculated by 
dividing the consolidated post-tax profit by the average number 
of outstanding shares. In addition the diluted average number 
of shares is calculated. There was an average number of basic 
shares of 10,713,340 in the year under review (2007: 10,816,842) 
and diluted shares of 10,848,296 (2007: 11,225,768).

The basic number of shares is reconciled with the diluted num-
ber of shares as follows:

 Shares
Number of shares at 31 December 2008 11,585,137
Less treasury shares at 31 December 2008 -1,150,885
Adjusted number of shares at 31 December 2008 10,434,252

Weighted average number of  
shares in 2008 (basic) 10,713,340
plus weighted average number  
of options in 2008 134,956
Weighted average number of  
shares in 2008 (diluted) 10,848,296

Basic earnings per shares as defined in IAS 33 came to 0.86 € in 
2008 (2007: 0.48 €). Diluted earnings per shares stood at 0.85 € 
in 2008 (2007: 0.47 €)
To calculate the average number of shares, new shares is-
sued were included on a time-proportionate basis. In addition, 
shares bought back and reissued were also included on a time-
proportionate basis. To calculate the diluted number of shares, 
the weighted average number of shares is adjusted by the num-
ber of all potentially diluting shares (options).

as of the date of recognition in the individual countries. As a 
matter of principle, these are based on the statutory rules in 
force or enacted on the balance sheet date. Non-domestic in-
come taxes are based on the rules and laws applicable or en-
acted in the individual countries. The income tax rates applied 
to the non-domestic companies is between 0 % and 40 %.
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Segment reporting complies with the stipulations in IAS 14. 
Integralis’ internal reporting system primarily makes distinc-
tions on the basis of geographic regions as the risks and local 
markets vary. Accordingly, primary segmentation is based on 
geographic segments. Secondary segmentation is based on the 
individual sales segments.

6.1 Primary segment reporting

The following geographic segments form the primary reporting 
format for Integralis AG: the United Kingdom, Germany / Swit-
zerland / Austria, the United States, France, Sweden and the 
United Arab Emirates. 
The cost of resources used on a cross-border basis (Helpdesk, 
Managed Security Service Centre, IT, product management 
etc.) was allocated in accordance with actual use by the indivi-
dual countries. Only Group expense was reported separately. 
This ensures a more reliable comparison of the country-based 
segments. Depreciation / amortisation and capital spending 
have also been allocated to the individual regions, with group-
wide items shown separately.
Assets and liabilities which cannot be directly allocated to the 
geographical segments or which concern Group activities are 
reported separately. 
The table setting out the primary segment report is attached 
to the notes.

6.2 Secondary segment reporting

The secondary segment report is broken down by products and 
services. Capital spending is assigned to the segments in ac-
cordance with their share in gross profit.
Trade receivables as well as deferred costs of materials were 
allocated directly to the segments to which they refer; the re-
maining assets were reported in accordance with trade recei-
vables and the deferred costs of materials. 

The cash flow statement has been prepared using the indirect 
method in accordance with IAS 7. For this purpose, non-cash 
investing and financing activities are ignored.
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, cash at banks 
and fixed-term deposits available at short notice. Current 
account loans are not included.

6. Segment report 7. Notes on the cash flow statement

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  NOTES



72

8.1 Disclosures in accordance with Section 
314 (1) No. 9 of the German Commercial Code

The fees for the auditors of the consolidated financial state-
ments reported as expenses in 2008 break down as follows:

  2008 2007 
  T€ T€
Audit of annual accounts 135 154
Other confirmation and evaluation  15 17
Tax advisory services 3 8
Other services 3 9
Total 156 188

8.2 Disclosures in accordance with Section 
314 (1) No. 6 of the German Commercial Code

In accordance with Section 314 (1) No. 6 of the German Com-
mercial Code, the disclosures on management compensation 
are included in the remuneration report, which forms part of 
the management report.

8.3 Financial instruments

The fair value of derivative financial instruments is determined 
on the basis of listed prices. The fair value of other financial 
assets and liabilities is determined using generally acknow-
ledged measurement models.

Exchange rate risk
The Group’s activities primarily expose it to financial risks as a 
result of changes in exchange rates.
At our national companies, our main suppliers issue their in-
voices in the local currency, meaning that the currency risk is 
for the most part confined to the translation of the national 
companies’ financial statements (currency translation risk). In 
Germany and the UK, some sourcing activities are denomina-
ted in US dollars, resulting in a transaction risk.
In 2007, currency management was introduced at the German 
company with the aim of reducing exposure to exchange rates 
in the event of an unfavourable EUR / USD parity. At the same 
time, it seeks to derive gains from favourable exchange rate 
trends. For this purpose, the following derivative financial in-
struments were used in Germany:

8. Other notes

Categorisation of financial  31/12/2008 31/12/2007 
instruments in T€ in T€
Financial assets  
At fair value through profit   
and loss 
Held for trading – –
Derivative instruments qualifying  
for hedge accounting  – 8
Loans and receivables (including  
cash and cash equivalents) 54,033 54,734

Categorisation of financial  31/12/2008 31/12/2007 
instruments in T€ in T€
Financial liabilities  
At fair value through profit 
and loss
Held for trading – –
Derivative instruments qualifying  
for hedge accounting  85 8
Financial liabilities at  
amortised costs 28,871 25,661
Liabilities under finance  
leases 1,498 1,560
Non-current loans – 118
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Zero-cost options Year Foreign-currency  Value of  Fair value of 
  amount contract premium  
  in T US$ T€ T€

Call options 2006 – – –
  2007 2,500 1,729 8
  2008 – – –
Put options 2006 – – –
  2007 2,500 1,674 8
  2008 – – –

Currency forwards and  Year Foreign-currency  Value of  Fair value of
swaps  amount contract premium  
  in T T€ T€

Currency forwards 2008 USD 4,500 3,236 -85
Currency swaps 2008 GBP  99 104 -1

• Currency forwards
• Zero-cost options
• Average-rate options

These hedging operations cover around 50 % of the exposure. 
The use of hedges to minimise the exchange rate risk is gover-
ned by internal guidelines which document in writing the rules 
to be applied in managing exchange rate risks. In addition, a 

The following table sets out the financial instruments out-
standing as of the balance sheet date, all of which are currency 
forwards / swaps. All outstanding forwards expire in less than 
three months.

quarterly report on the currency management activities is pro-
duced. Currency management is handled with moderate admi-
nistrative resource requirements in accordance with the scope 
of business.
The following table sets out the financial instruments out-
standing as of the balance sheet date, all of which are zero-
cost options. All outstanding options expire in less than three 
months.
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Credit risk:
Group management operates within a defined credit policy, 
monitors the extent of any exposure to credit risks on an on-
going basis and performs credit reviews when and as required. 
As of the balance sheet date, there was no material cluste-
ring of credit risks necessitating provisions or adjustments. The 
maximum risk of default is limited to the carrying value of the 
receivables.

Interest risk:
The Group is not exposed to any interest risk as the Group com-
panies have not raised any material volumes of external debt.

Default risk:
Default risks or the risk of a counterparty failing to satisfy its 
payment obligations are monitored as part of receivables man-
agement and minimised by means of credit checks and the as-
signment of credit limits. The default risk equals the total value 
of receivables recognised. The maximum default risk rough-
ly equals the receivables reported in the balance sheet. In the 
light of historical experience and the composition of the cus-
tomer base, the Management Board assumes that the default 
risk is very small and that actual risk is covered by adjustments 
to individual receivables. 
 
8.4 Share option programmes

The Integralis Group has implemented various share option 
programmes over the past years to allow employees and man-
agement to participate in the Company’s success. The existing 
share option programmes are described below:

8.4.1 Share option programme IV (“SOP IV”)

The fourth employee participation programme was established 
in accordance with a resolution passed at the annual gene-
ral meeting of 23 June 2003. The share options may be exer-
cised within five years in four three-month exercise windows: 
50 % after two years (exercise window I), 20 % after three 
years (exercise window II) and 30 % after four years (exercise 
window III), followed by a final special exercise right (exercise 
window IV). The condition for exercise is that, during the exer-
cise window, the Xetra closing price of Integralis shares ex-
ceeds the grant price on at least one trading day by 10 % for 
exercise window I, by 15 % for exercise window II, by 20 % 
for exercise window III and by 22.5 % for exercise window 
IV. In 2008, 8,005 share options were exercised at 3.24 € and 
63,250 at 2.70 €. Of these, all 71,255 options were honoured 
by using treasury shares. 

This option programme expired at the end of the year, mean-
ing that the remaining unexercised options lapsed.

 Effect of US Dollar Effect of GB Pound
 2008 2007 2008 2007
 T€ T€ T€ T€
Net profit / equity 33 209 239 302

The fair value of all financial assets is calculated on the basis of 
quoted market prices.
The general translation risk is predominantly limited to the sub-
sidiaries in the United States and the United Kingdom as these 
companies constitute a large part of our overall business and 
the US Dollar and Pound Sterling fluctuate against the Euro.

Foreign currency sensitivity analysis:
Consolidated earnings are influenced by fluctuations in the US 
Dollar and Pound Sterling relative to the Euro. The following 
table shows the Group’s sensitivity to a ten percent rise or 
fall in the Euro against the US Dollar and Pound Sterling. The 
ten-percent shift represents management’s appraisal of a rea-
sonable possible change in exchange rates. The sensitivity ana-
lysis shows the influence of the local earnings denominated in 
US Dollars and Pound Sterling. A positive figure indicates an 
increase in consolidated earnings for the year if the Euro in-
creases by 10 % against the US Dollar and Pound Sterling. If 
the Euro drops by 10 % against the US Dollar and Pound Ster-
ling, this has an opposite effect of the same amplitude on net 
earnings for the year and equity. As a result, the items shown 
in the table below would be negative.
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The outstanding options break down as follows:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Members of the Management  
Board and managing directors 
of the subsidiaries – 63,250
Staff – 25,439
Options outstanding at the  
end of the period  – 88,689

Analysis of the number of options as of December 31, 2008:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Options outstanding at the 
beginning of the period 88,689 117,139
Options granted – –
Options exercised 71,255 17,894
Options expired 17,434 10,556
Options outstanding at  
the end of the period – 88,689

8.4.2 Share option programme V (“SOP V”)

The fifth employee participation programme was established 
in accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting of 26 May 2004. As of the balance sheet date, em-
ployees and management held 13,000 options that were is-
sued on 10 June 2005 at 2.80 €. 
The share options may be exercised within five years in four 
three-month exercise windows: 50 % after two years (exer-
cise window I), 20 % after three years (exercise window II) and 
30 % after four years (exercise window III), followed by a final 
special exercise right (exercise window IV). 
The condition for exercise is that, during the exercise window, 
the Xetra closing price of Integralis shares exceeds the grant 
price on at least one trading day by 10 % for exercise window 
I, by 15 % for exercise window II, by 20 % for exercise win-

Analysis of the number of options as of 31 December 2008:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Options outstanding at the 
beginning of the period 25,000 52,000
Options granted – –
Options exercised 9,500 15,000
Options forfeited 2,500 12,000
Options expired – –
Options outstanding at the  
end of the period 13,000 25,000
  
Options vesting at the  
end of the period – –

The outstanding options break down as follows:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Members of the Management 
Board and managing directors 
 of the subsidiaries 6,000 10,000
Staff 7,000 15,000
Options outstanding at the 
end of the period 13,000 25,000

dow III and by 22.5 % for exercise window IV. In 2008, 9,500 
options were exercised under this share option programme, 
all of which were honoured using the Company‘s treasury 
share. As of 31 December 2008, the value of an option on the 
basis of the XETRA closing price of 3.21 € on 30 December 
2008 stood at 0.41 €.
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The outstanding options break down as follows:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Members of the Management Board  155,000 125,000
and managing directors of 
the subsidiaries 
Staff 104,000 116,000
Options outstanding at the 
end of the period 259,000 241,000

Analysis of the number of options as of 31 December 2008:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Options outstanding at the  
beginning of the period 241,000 –
Options granted 50,000 259,000
Options exercised – –
Options expired 32,000 18,000
Options outstanding at the 
end of the period 259,000 241,000
  
Options vesting at the 
end of the period 259,000 241,000

Instalment 2008
Eligible persons Management Board
Allocation date 09/06/2008
Issue price 5.31 €
Closing price of Integralis share 5.33 €
Dividend return  5.02 %
Interest rate 4.48 %
Volatility of Integralis 52.06 %
Employee fluctuation 3.00 %
Fair value 1.73 €

8.4.4 Share appreciation rights program
(STAR programme)

At the annual general meeting held on 23 June 2003, a re-
solution was passed to award the members of the Super-
visory Board variable compensation in addition to their fixed 
compensation in the form of share appreciation rights (STAR) 
under the conditions of the Company’s Share Appreciation 
Rights Programme I of 2003. The STAR programme comprises 
a total of 150,000 appreciation rights, 50,000 of which are at-
tributable to each member of the Supervisory Board.
The offer to acquire appreciation rights was made in three 
tranches in each case on the fifth working day after Integralis 
AG’s interim report for the respective period was published. 
Each member of the Supervisory Board was offered 25,000 

8.4.3 Share option programme VI (“SOP 2007”)

The new employee participation programme was established 
in accordance with a resolution passed at the annual general 
meeting of 10 May 2007. As of the balance sheet, employees 
and management held 259,000 options, of which 209,000 had 
been issued on 2 August 2007 at a price of 4.19 € and 50,000 
on 9 June 2008 at a price of 5.31 €.
The share options may be exercised no earlier than two years 
after and no later than five years of issue. The exercise peri-
ods are from 1 July until 15 August and from 1 November un-
til 15 December of each year. For the options to be exercised, 
the average price of Integralis share in XETRA trading between 
the 6th and 10th day of trading before the commencement of 
an exercise period must have risen by at least 25 % over the 
issue price. 

Instalment 2007 / I 2007 / II
Eligible persons Staff Management
   Board
Allocation date 02/08/2007 02/08/2007
Issue price 4.19 € 4.19 €
Closing price of Integralis share 4.22 € 4.22 €
Dividend return  0.00 % 0.00 %
Interest rate 4.27 % 4.27 %
Volatility of Integralis 65.04 % 65.04 %
Employee fluctuation 3.00 % 0.00 %
Fair value 2.18 € 2.20 €

The estimates of future volatility are derived from the historical 
price of Integralis AG share. The historical time window is the 
residual term of the options.
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Analysis of share appreciation rights as of 31 December 2008:

  2008 2007 
  Number Number
Options outstanding at the 
beginning of the period 50,000 100,000
Rights granted – –
Rights exercised 50,000 50,000
Rights forfeited – –
Rights expired – –
Rights outstanding at the  
beginning of the period – 50,000
  
Rights vesting at the  
beginning of the period – –
The STAR programme has expired on 31. December 2008.

appreciation rights in 2003; 12,500 were offered in each of 
the years 2004 and 2005. The vesting period is one year af-
ter the grant. Share appreciation rights may be exercised only 
within the two weeks following the release of an annual, 
semi-annual or quarterly report of Integralis AG, and only on 
banking days. The condition for exercise (exercise hurdle) is 
that the price of Integralis shares on the date of exercise must 
be at least 10 % above the base price. The rights lapse if they 
are not exercised within five years of issue.
The total compensation received by the individual members of 
the Supervisory Board comprising a fixed and a variable com-
ponent under the STAR programme must not exceed a total of 
75,000 € per year.
On 31 December 2007, the members of the Supervisory Board 
held 50,000 share appreciation rights (25,000 at 2.33 € and 
25,000 at 3.52 €). As of the end of the year, the value of a 
share appreciation right on the basis of the XETRA closing 
price of 5.75 € on 28 December 2007 stood at 3.42 € in the 
case of the rights granted in 2004 and 2.23 € in the case of the 
rights granted in 2005.

8.4.5 Share buyback programme and treasu-
ry shares

Various share buyback programmes were carried out in 2006 
though 2008 in accordance with Section 71 (1) No. 8 of the 
German Share Corporation Act. All shares were bought back 
on the market floor. The transactions complied with the trad-
ing restrictions provided for in Article 5 of Regulation (EC) No. 
2273 / 2003 of the Commission of 22 December 2003. Regular 
reports on the progress of the buyback programme were pub-
lished on the Company’s website. In accordance with the au-
thorisation granted at the annual general meeting, the treasury 
shares acquired may be used for the following purposes:

• Acquisition of all or part of other entities and to 
 satisfy purchase-price and other payment obligations 
 arising from such acquisition
• Redemption of shares
• Honouring of existing share option programmes

On 28 March 2006, the commencement of a share buyback 
programme from 29 March 2006 through 22 May 2006 was 
announced, during which a total of 654,833 shares with a to-
tal value of 2,329,356.51 € was acquired. 
On 8 June 2006, a further share buyback program from 12 Ju-
ne 2006 to 29 December 2006 was announced. Under this pro-
gram, a total of 615,116 shares with a value of 2,024,755.47 € 
was acquired up until 29 December 2006.
On 2 January 2008, a further share buyback program from 
3 January 2008 to 30 June 2008 was announced, during which 
a total of 262,595 shares valued at 1,341,381.73 € was ac-
quired.
On 26 August 2008, a further share buyback program for a 
period expiring on 31 December 2008 was announced, du-
ring which a total of 250,000 shares valued at 955,002.78 € 
was acquired.
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Period Number Value Average 
   exercise price 

   in € in € 
December 2006 11,548 26,250.85 2.27
January 2007 4,871 10,243.04 2.10
April 2007 1,200 1,596.00 1.33
May 2007 450 598.50 1.33
June 2007 1,125 1,496.25 1.33
July 2007 10,750 18,647.50 1.73
September 2007 9 29.16 3.24
October 2007 3,630 11,761.20 3.24
November 2007 7,644 23,006.56 3.01
December 2007 4,640 14,593.60 3.15
January 2008 5,535 17,273.40 3.12
February 2008 4,000 11,200.00 2.80
April 2008 35,000 94,500.00 2.70
May 2008 28,870 78,283.80 2.71
June 2008 4,460 12,690.40 2.85
July 2008 2,890 9,363.60 3.24
Total 126,622 331,533.68 2.61

The purposes for which this treasury share was used are 
described below.

For acquisitions and earn-out obligations:

•  208,193 shares on 27 April 2006 and 9,810 shares on 
17 May 2006 to settle earn-out obligations of 646,596.65 € 
from the acquisition of the Swedish company Netsecure AB. 
The price per share on which the settlement of the earn-out 
obligations was based was 2.97 €. 

•  145,950 shares on 19 March 2007 and 24,752 shares on 
1 April 2007 to settle earn-out obligations of 643,597.75 € 
from the acquisition of the Swedish company Netsecure AB. 
The price per share on which the settlement of the earn-out 
obligations was based was 3.77 €.

•  225,534 shares on 4 April 2007 to settle the purchase-price 
obligation of 1,001,370.96 € for the acquisition of ProtechT 
FZ LLC, Dubai.

•  34,521 shares on 4 January 2008 to settle a purchase price 
payment obligation of 190,000.00 € to Integralis Deutsch-
land GmbH for the acquisition of Greschitz IT Security 
GmbH.

•  95,799 shares on 3 March 2008 to settle the purchase-
price obligation of 534,845.20 € for the acquisition of 
ProtechT FZ LLC, Dubai.

To date, the following shares have been used to honour obli-
gations under share option programmes:
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Period Addition Disposal End-of-month  Proportion of 
   balance share capital*
2006 1,269,949 229,551 1,040,398 9.01 %
2007 239,522 430,555 849,365 7.33 %
January 2008 86,220 40,056 895,529 7.73 %
February 2008 56,004 4,000 947,533 8.18 %
March 2008 38,134 95,799 889,868 7.68 %
April 2008 23,651 35,000 878,519 7.58 %
May 2008 28,420 28,870 878,069 7.58 %
June 2008 30,166 4,460 903,775 7.80 %
July 2008 – 2,890 900,885 7.78 %
August 2008 12,760 – 913,645 7.89 %
September 2008 77,367 – 991,012 8.55 %
October 2008 56,424 – 1,047,436 9.04 %
November 2008 103,449 – 1,150,885 9.93 %
December 2008 – – 1,150,885 9.93 %
Total on 31 Dec. 2008 2,022,066 871,181 1,150,885 9.93 %
* Proportion of share capital as of the end of the month in question.

The average price of the Company’s treasury shares was at 
4.20 € as of the balance sheet date (2007: 4.03 €).

8.5 Contingent liabilities

The operating leases primarily cover office space and company 
cars. Lease and rental expense came to 2,228 T€ in 2008 (2007: 
2,317 T€). Expense is quoted net of the income from subletting 
the premises to third parties, which came to 1,073 T€ in 2008 
(2007: 943 T€). 

Analysis of future lease payments and subletting income as of 
31 December 2008 broken down by term:

Term Operating leases Income from  
   sub-leasing 
  T¤ T¤
In less than one year 2,857 318
Between 1 and 5 years 7,776 602
More than 5 years 6,483 0
Total 17,116 920

As of 31 December 2008, Integralis AG held a total of 1,150,885 
treasury shares, equivalent to 9.93 % of its total share capital 
as of that date.

Analysis of treasury share holdings:
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Shares and options held by members of the Management 
Board and Supervisory Board as of 31 December 2008

Management Board Shares Share options
Georg Magg  50,000 50,000
Roger Friederich 20,200 56,000
Total shares held by Management Board: 0.60 %

Supervisory Board Shares STAR rights
Magnus Wahlbäck
and related persons 940,843 –
Arnd Wolpers
and related persons 622,561 –
Jochen Tschunke  
(until 8 May 2008) – –
Carl-Franz von Quadt 
(since 8 May 2008) – –
Total shares held by the Supervisory Board: 13.49 % 

The tax losses and the periods in which they must be utilised 
are set out below:

Expiry Date  31/12/2008 31/12/2007
  T¤ T¤
In less than one year - 1,689
Between 1 and 5 years - -
Between 6 and 20 years 3,034 5,068
No expiry date 81,365 79,440
Total 84,399 86,197

8.7 Staff

The average headcount in the year under review stood at 471 
(2007: 424) and breaks down as follows:

  2008 2007
  Number Number
Sales 153 158
Technical 242 201
Administration and management 76 65
Total 471 424

8.8 Post-retirement benefit obligations

The subsidiaries in the UK, the United States and Sweden 
have established post-retirement benefit plans for staff. The 
expenditure recorded in the income statement for the indivi-
dual plans during the year stands at 411 T€ (2007: 429 T€). At 
the German companies, contributions for direct insurance for 
employees are valued at 7 T€ (2007: 6 T€). There are no post-
retirement benefit plans at any of the other companies of the 
Integralis Group. Expenditure on defined-contribution commit-
ments came to a total of 205 T€ (2007: 435 T€).
 
8.9 Related parties

In accordance with the definition in IAS 24, related parties in-
clude the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of 
Integralis AG as well as their main shareholders. No payments 
were made to related parties other than the contractual com-
pensation to the members of the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board. The remuneration paid to the members of 
the Supervisory Board and the Management Board is described 
in detail in the remuneration report, which forms part of the 
management report.

8.6 Tax losses

In accordance with IAS 12.34, a deferred tax asset should be 
recognised for the carryforward of unused tax losses and un-
used tax credits to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profit will be available against which the unused tax 
losses and unused tax credits can be utilised. IAS 12.35 calls 
for strong evidence of the future existence of taxable profits for 
deferred tax assets to be recognised.
The Company recognised deferred tax assets for unused tax 
losses for the first time in 2007. In the case of subsidiaries 
which continued to operate profitably in 2007, deferred tax 
assets were recognised for unused tax losses in an amount 
equalling the expected tax income from the utilisation of the 
existing tax losses against the forecast profit in 2008. In the 
year under review, the expected profits for the following five 
years based on the results of the impairment test were taken 
into consideration.
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8.10 Management Board and Supervisory 
Board

The members of the Management Board in the year 
under review were:

• Georg Magg (Chief Executive Officer), 
 Bad Wörishofen, Germany 
• Graham Jones (Chief Operations Officer), 
 Malvern, Worcestershire, United Kingdom 
 (until 30 June 2008)
• Roger Friederich (Chief Financial Officer), 
 Vaterstetten, Germany

The members of the Supervisory Board in the year 
under review were:

• Magnus Wahlbäck, chairman, business man in Sweden 
• Arnd Wolpers (deputy chairman), business man in 
 Münsing / Ammerland
• Prof. Jochen Tschunke, business man in Munich 
 (until 8 May 2008)
• Carl-Franz von Quadt, publisher in Munich 
 (since 8 May 2008)

9.1 Disclosure by Highclere International Inves-
tors Smaller Companies Fund, London, UK of 
4 March 2008

Disclosure in accordance with Section 21 (1) of the German 
Securities Trading Act: 

•  The voting right share threshold of 5 % was exceeded on 
29 February 2007 and now stands at 5.02 % (equivalent to 
581,072 voting rights). 4.9 % of the voting rights (567,652 
voting rights) are attributable to Highclere International In-
vestors Smaller Companies Fund in accordance with Section 
22 (1) Sentence 1 No. 6 of the German Securities Trading 
Act; 0.12 % of the voting rights (13,420) of are attribut-
able to Highclere (Jersey) Investors Smaller Companies Fund 
in accordance with Section 22 (1) Sentence 1 No. 6 of the 
German Securities Trading Act.

9.2 Disclosure by Axxion S.A. Luxembourg of 
7 July 2008

Disclosure in accordance with Section 21 (1) of the German 
Securities Trading Act:

•  The voting right share threshold of 3 % was dropped 
below on 3 July 2008 and now stands at 2.23 % (equivalent 
to 258,858 voting rights).

 
10. Declaration of conformance with the 
German Corporate Governance Code

The declaration of conformance with the Corporate Governance 
Code stipulated by Section 161 of the German Stock Corpora-
tions Act has been issued by the Management Board and the 
Supervisory Board and is available for inspection by the share-
holders at all times at the Company’s website.

Ismaning, March 2009

The Management Board

9. Disclosures in accordance with Section 
160 (1) No. 8 of the German Stock Corpora-
tions Act concerning existing shares held 
in the Company as of the balance sheet 
date subject to compulsory disclosure in 
accordance with Sections 21 et seq. of the 
German Securities Trading Act
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I. Introduction

Under Section 161 of the German Stock Corporations Act, the Management Board and Supervisory Board are required to declare 
once a year whether and to what extent the Company conforms to the recommendations set out in the German Corporate Gover-
nance Code and to specify which recommendations have not been applied. This declaration must be made available to the share-
holders at all times.
This is a non-authoritative English translation of the original German-language declaration issued by Integralis AG.
The declaration for 2009 applies to both fiscal 2008 and fiscal 2009.
The Management Board and the Supervisory Board have examined the recommendations contained in the German Corporate 
Governance Code carefully. At the Company’s annual general meetings, the Company’s shareholders are regularly informed of in-
dividual matters relating to corporate governance.

II. Declaration issued by the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of Integralis AG 
pursuant to Section 161 of the German Stock Corporations Act

On the basis of the German Corporate Governance Code (GCGC) as amended on 06 June 2008 and in accordance with Section 161 
of the German Stock Corporations Act, the Management Board and the Supervisory Board of Integralis AG hereby declare that the 
Company conformed to the recommendations of the German Corporate Governance Code in the prevailing version for 2008 and 
will do so for 2009 with the exception of the following:

Article 3.8:
If the company takes out a D&O (directors and officers‘ liability insurance) policy for the Management Board and Super-
visory Board, a suitable deductible shall be agreed.
Integralis AG has had D&O cover for the Management Board and Supervisory Board since 1999. This is group insurance which 
also covers numerous other national and international employees. We see the reason for this cover as being to protecting the 
Company from any risks and will therefore not be introducing any deductible for members of the Management Board and Super-
visory Board.

Article 4.2.3:
In particular, company stocks with a multi-year blocking period, stock options or comparable instruments (e.g. phantom 
stocks) serve as variable compensation components with long-term incentive effect and risk elements. Stock options and 
comparable instruments shall be related to demanding, relevant comparison parameters. Changing such performance 
targets or the comparison parameters retroactively shall be excluded. For extraordinary, unforeseen developments a pos-
sibility of limitation (Cap) shall be agreed for by the Supervisory Board.

DECLARATION OF CONFORMANCE OF 
INTEGRALIS AG FOR 2009
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Integralis AG’s share option plans prior to 2007 provide for a 10% increase on the base price as a target, increasing by a further 
5% per year. Options granted in 2007 and later require an increase over base price of 25% The Supervisory Board does not have 
any scope for limitation (cap) for extraordinary, unforeseen developments.

Article 5.2:
The Chairman of the Supervisory Board shall also chair the committees that handle contracts with members of the Man-
agement Board and prepare the Supervisory Board meetings. He should not be Chairman of the Audit Committee. 
In the interests of effective and lean structures, there is currently no need to establish committees due to the small number of 
Supervisory Board members. For this reason, these duties are executed by the Supervisory Board as a whole. 

Article 5.3.1:
Depending on the specifics of the enterprise and the number of its members, the Supervisory Board shall form commit-
tees with sufficient expertise.
In the interests of effective and lean structures, there is currently no need to establish committees due to the small number of 
Supervisory Board members.

Article 5.3.2:
The Supervisory Board shall set up an Audit Committee which, in particular, handles issues of accounting and risk 
management, the necessary independence required of the auditor, the issuing of the audit mandate to the auditor, the 
determination of auditing focal points and the fee agreement. 
On account of its small size, the Supervisory Board in its entirety deals with the aforementioned questions relating to accounting 
and risk management and performs the necessary checks in connection with the auditor. 

Article 5.3.2:
The Supervisory Board shall form a nomination committee composed exclusively of shareholder representatives which 
proposes suitable candidates to the Supervisory Board for recommendation to the General Meeting.
On account of its small size, the Supervisory Board in its entirety deals with the nomination of suitable candidates to recommend 
them to the General Meeting. 

Article 5.4.1:
There shall be no age limit for members of the Supervisory Board.
No age limit has been set aside for members of the Supervisory Board as the Company wishes to continue benefiting from the skills 
of experienced Supervisory Board members.

ANNUAL REPORT 2008  |  NOTES
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Article 5.4.3:
Proposed candidates for the Supervisory Board chair shall be announced to the shareholders.
This recommendation stipulates that the candidates for the Supervisory Board chair should be announced to the shareholders even 
though the Supervisory Board has generally not yet been elected. The law provides for the chairman of the Supervisory Board to 
be elected from amongst the members of the Supervisory Board. There is no provision in the law for candidates for the Super-
visory Board chair to be elected from amongst the other members of the Supervisory Board, who themselves have not yet been 
elected. This would effectively result in a preliminary determination not anticipated by the law. For this reason, we do not follow 
this recommendation.

Article 7.1.2:
Interim financial reports shall be discussed between the supervisory board and the management board before its 
release.
In 2008, the quarterly results were discussed between management and supervisory board. It is planned to extend this discussion 
to cover the financial reports as well.

Ismaning, February 2009

Integralis AG

For the Supervisory Board For the Management Board

Magnus Wahlbäck Georg Magg

Contact: 
Georg Magg, Roger Friederich and Peter Banholzer (IR)
ir@integralis.com
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We have audited the consolidated financial statements prepared by the Integralis Aktiengesellschaft comprising the balance sheet, 
the income statement, statement of changes in equity, cash flow statement and the notes to the financial statements, together 
with the group management report for the business year from 1 January 2008 to 31 December 2008. The preparation of the con-
solidated financial statements and the group management report in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU, and the additio-
nal requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Article 315a (1) HGB are the responsibility of the parent company’s ma-
nagement. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements and on the group management 
report based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Article 317 HGB and the generally accepted 
German standards for the audit of financial statements promulgated by the Institut der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). These standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit so that misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial 
position and results of operations in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with the applicable financial reporting 
framework and in the group management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities 
and the economic and legal environment of the Group, and expectations as to possible misstatements are taken into account in 
the determination of audit procedures. The effectiveness of the accounting-related internal control system and the evidence sup-
porting the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements and the group management report are examined primarily on a 
test basis within the framework of the audit. The audit includes assessing the annual financial statements of those entities inclu-
ded in the consolidation, the determining of entities to be included in consolidation, the accounting and consolidation principles 
used and significant estimates made by the management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated finan-
cial statements and the group management report. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Our audit has not led to any qualifications.

In our opinion, based on the findings of our audit, the consolidated financial statements of Integralis Aktiengesellschaft comply 
with IFRS as adopted by the EU, the additional requirements of German commercial law pursuant to Article 315a (1) HGB, and gi-
ve a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the Group in accordance with these require-
ments. The group management report is consistent with the consolidated financial statements and, as a whole, provides a suitab-
le view of the Group’s position and suitably presents the opportunities and risks of future development.

Munich, 23 March 2009
AWT Horwath GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft

signed ppa. D. Rose signed G. Wörl 
Wirtschaftsprüferin Wirtschaftsprüfer
(German Public Auditor) (German Public Auditor)

AUDITORS’ OPINION
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INTEGRALIS WORLDWIDE

Germany
Headquarters

Integralis AG – Munich

Robert-Bürkle-Straße 3

85737 Ismaning

Tel:  +49 (0) 89 94573 0

Fax: +40 (0) 89 94573 180

E-Mail: ir@integralis.com

Integralis Deutschland GmbH 

Munich

Robert-Bürkle-Straße 3

85737 Ismaning

Tel:  +49 (0) 89 94573 0

Fax: +40 (0) 89 94573 180

E-Mail: de.info@integralis.com

Integralis Deutschland GmbH

Heilbronn

Ferdinand-Braun-Straße 1

74074 Heilbronn

Tel:  +49 (0) 7131 799 0

Fax:  +49 (0) 7131 799 150

E-Mail: de.info@integralis.com

Integralis Deutschland GmbH –

Cologne

Industriestraße 23a

51399 Burscheid

Tel: +49 (0) 2174 677 0

Fax: +49 (0) 2174 677 77

E-Mail: de.info@integralis.com

Integralis Deutschland GmbH

Hamburg

Behringerstraße 16b

22765 Hamburg

Tel:  +49 (0) 40 2981126 0

Fax:  +49 (0) 40 2981126 29

E-Mail: de.info@integralis.com

Austria
Integralis Österreich GmbH –

Vienna

Untere Viaduktgasse 6

A-1030 Vienna

Tel.: +43 (1) 7109019-0

Fax: +43 (1) 7109019-99

E-Mail: at.info@integralis.com

Switzerland
Integralis Schweiz AG – Zurich

Zunstraße 11

CH - 8152 Glattbrugg

Tel:  +41 (0) 44 56729 29

Fax:  +41 (0) 44 56729 30

E-Mail: ch.info@integralis.com

Integralis Suisse SA – Givisiez

Route du Crochet 7

CH - 1762 Givisiez

Tel:  +41 (0) 26 460 3300

Fax:  +41 (0) 26 460 3399

E-Mail: ch.info@integralis.com

France
Integralis SAS – Paris

Parc de Garlande 1

Rue de l’égalité

F - 92220 Bagneux

Tel:  +33 (0) 155 5817 50

Fax:  +33 (0) 155 5817 57

E-Mail: fr.info@integralis.com

Singapore
Integralis Services Pte Ltd.

– Singapore

30 Cecil Street 15-14 

Prudential Tower 

Singapore 049712 

Tel: +65 6622 5760 

E-mail: sqsoc@integralis.com

Great Britain
Integralis Ltd. – Theale

Theale House Brunel Road

Theale, Reading

RG7 4AQ

Tel:  +44 (0) 118 930 6060

Fax:  +44 (0) 118 930 2143

E-Mail: uk.info@integralis.com

Integralis Ltd. – London

4 Lombard Street

London

EC3V 9HD

Tel:  +44 (0) 207 190 2900

Fax:  +44 (0) 207 190 2901

E-Mail: uk.info@integralis.com

Integralis Ltd. – Manchester

Manchester Business Park

3000, Aviator Way

M22 5TG Manchester

Tel:  +44 (0) 1925 854444

Fax:  +44 (0) 1925 854455

E-Mail: uk.info@integralis.com

Sweden
Integralis AB – Stockholm

Torshamnsgatan 39

S - 164 40 Kista

Tel:  +46 (0) 8 633 76 00

Fax:  +46 (0) 8 633 76 01

E-Mail: se.info@integralis.com

Integralis AB – Göteborg

Gamlestadsvägen 2-4, B3

S - 41502 Göteborg

Tel:  +46 (0) 31 761 07 20

Fax:  +46 (0) 31 33 88 520

E-Mail: se.info@integralis.com

USA
Integralis Inc. – Connecticut

111 Founders Plaza, 13th floor

CT 06108 East Hartford

Tel: +1 860 291 0851

Fax: +1 860 291 0847

E-Mail: us.info@integralis.com

Integralis Inc. – New York

330 Madison Avenue, Suite #643

NY 10017 New York

Tel: +1 646 495 5190

Fax: +1 646 495 5189

E-Mail: us.info@integralis.com

Integralis, Inc. – California

65 Enterprise

CA 92656 Aliso Vieto

Tel: +1 949 330 6258

E-Mail: us.info@integralis.com

Integralis, Inc. – Central Region

6240 W. 135th St., Suite 234

KS 66223 Overland Park

Tel.: +1 913 647 5130

E-Mail: us.info@integralis.com

United Arab Emirates
ProtechT FZ LLC – Dubai

P.O.Box 500505

Dubai

Tel:  +971 4 3570240

Fax:  +971 84 3670240

E-Mail: info@protecht-me.com

ProtechT Technical Services 

– Abu Dhabi

P.O. Box 54789

Abu Dhabi

Tel:  +971 2 4146626

Fax:  +971 2 4146600

E-Mail: info@protecht-me.com
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Management Board
Georg Magg, CEO
Roger Friederich, CFO

Supervisory Board
Magnus Wahlbäck, Chairman
Arnd Wolpers, Deputy Chairman
Carl-Franz von Quadt

Shareholder Information
Integralis AG is a Stock corporation registered at:

Robert-Bürkle-Straße 3
85737 Ismaning
Germany
Tel: +49 (0) 89 945 73 0
Fax: +49 (0) 89 945 73 180
E-mail: ir@integralis.com

The company is entered on the Munich Commercial Register
number HRB 121349

Investor Relations
You can register by e-mail with ir@integralis.com to re-
ceive regular financial information on Integralis AG. Please 
also use this address for any other requests for financial in-
formation such as quarterly reports or answers to investment-
related questions. Or contact us using the following address:

Integralis AG
Peter Banholzer
Robert-Bürkle-Straße 3
85737 Ismaning
Germanny
Tel:  +49 (0) 89 945 73 178
Fax:  +49 (0) 89 945 73 180

Our latest financial reports and corporate updates are available 
on the Internet at www.integralis.com

Design: Werbeagentur Ursula Borsche GmbH, Munich

IMPRINTORDINARY STOCK

Integralis stock is listed in Deutsche Börse AG‘s Prime Standard.

Tickersymbol: AAGN
WKN: 515503
ISIN: DE0005155030
Reuters: AAGGn.DE
Bloomberg: AAGN:GY

FINANCIAL CALENDAR 
FOR 2009

March 31
Annual Report 2008: Our Annual Report 2008 will be released

April 29 
DVFA Small Cap Forum SCF, Frankfurt

May 13 
Q1-Report 2009: The quarterly Report for the first three 
months 2009 will be released

May 14
Annual General Meeting, Mercedes-Benz Branch, Munich

May 27 
Baader Small and Mid Cap Conference, Unterschleißheim

August 13 
Q2-Report 2009: The Half Year Report 2009 will be released

November 10
Q3-Report 2009: The Nine Months Report 2009 will be 
released

November 9  – 11
German Equity Forum, Frankfurt
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